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Introduction

P oy

The trial of Joan of Arc began on January 9, 1431, and ended with her
execution on May 30. Perhaps no event of the Middle Ages created

such an international sensation. «guch wonders she perforrned.” wrote
the German theologian Johannes Nider, “that not just France but ev-
" News of the trial traveled

ery Christian kingdom stands amazed.

swiftly, no less than had the news of Joan’s first victory at Orléans in
1429. On June 8, the ministers of the English king sent a newsletter de-
scribing the trial to all the royalty of Europe. A second letter, on June
28 to prelates and nobility in France, ordered sermons against Joan.
The preaching had begun by July 4.2 At the same time, the trial was be-
ing reported in Venice, thanks to letters sent from Bruges.® At least
nine of the trial’s judges and assessors took the news to the Council of
Basel (1431-1449), which served as a network for the learned from
all over Europe.* The outcome was probably common knowledge in
Western Europe by late summern and it immediately became a favorite
topic in contemporary chronicles.
Joan had been an international celebrity for almost two years by the
time the trial began. Realizing the scrutiny that such a case would at-
tract, her judges produced the most detailed trial record of the Middle
Ages. Nine years Jater, Joan’s companion in battle Gilles de Rais was
put on trial for sodomy, human sacrifice, invocation of the devil, and
the murder of perhaps hundreds of children. He was then Marshal of
France, the most powarful military official and one of the wealthiest
men in the country, owner of many castles and keeper of a large reti-
nue.* His trial is about half the length of Joan’s and, like nearly all me-
dieval trial records, survives in a single archival copy, intended only for
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mented in the text itself Co:“:'stances that led to the trial are docu-
about the deliverance of ovmced by her voices that she was to bring
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ans from an English siege, Joan per-

wrote to the duke of Burgundy, urging him to surrender Joan to an
inquisition. A custody battle ensued, during which the University of
Paris played a key role in arranging Joan's transfer from the
Burgundians to the English at Rouen for trial. Although Joan was a
prisoner of war, she was also accused of heresy. Pierre Cauchon, the
bishop in whose diocese Joan was taken, thus had jurisdiction over the
trial with the inquisitor of France, Jean Graverent, who had other
commitments and appointed Jean Le Maistre in his stead.
Jean Le Maistre was a cipher whose participation was quite acci-
dental and possibly halfhearted; Pierre Cauchon (c. 1371-1442) was
master of this trial. The pattern of Cauchon’s career illustrates the
complete interweaving of spiritual office with temporal authority that
prevailed during this period. Like many others who came of age dur-
ing the civil war between Armagnacs and Burgundians (1407-1435),
including most members of the University of Paris and the citizens of
Paris and a good many other towns® he believed that the future of
France lay not with the Valois dynasty that had produced the chaotic
reign of the mad king Charles VI (r. 1380-1422), but in the dukes of
Burgundy who ruled one of the most powerful states of Europe and in
many ways set the cultural trends for the age even more than did the
Italian city-states.’ Trained as a canon lawyer at the University of Paris,
Cauchon supported John the Fearless, duke of Burgundy (r. 1404—
1419) at the Council of Constance (1414-1418) in opposing the lead-
ing theologian of the age, Jean Gerson, on the issue of tyrannicide.
(The duke had arranged the assassination that led to civil war in the
first place.) Cauchon soon rose to become bishop of Beauvais (1420)
and then Lisieux (1432). A bishop in the Middle Ages was at the nexus
of spiritual and temporal power: on the one hand a receptacle of di-
vine grace passed down by the apostles in direct succession, but on the
other a prince of the Church endowed with wide-ranging legal and
political authority and temporal possessions. The Anglo-Burgundian
alliance ratified at the Treaty of Troyes in 1420 drew Cauchon into the
circle of English ministers. His participation in the Great Council of
Henry V of England from 1422 and of Henry VI the following year
placed him among the most powerful men of his world." The new
French king Charles VII (r. 1422-1461) represented for Cauchon not
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May 30, Joan of Arc was condemned as a relapsed heretic and burned
at the stake in the Old Market Square of Rouen."

The text that gives us access to this trial is an extraordinary witness
to the life of Joan, her mental outlook, the social structures of the
world in which she lived, and the unfolding of her trial. But it is not a
word-for-word transcript. This point bears emphasizing, given the
claim in the title of an older translation that one particular manu-
script offers a “verbatim report” of the trial.”® The record of the inter-
rogations in its original form is better described as a summary of the
interrogations. Testimony given at the retrial (discussed below) pro-
vides a fairly clear picture of how the text was put together. The inter-
rogations were conducted and recorded in French, the court’s proce-
dure in Latin. During the sessions, the notaries Manchon and Colles
took notes. We should not imagine a dictation system. Often, the
scribes omitted questions and collapsed an entire series of Joan’s an-
swers which then appear as streaming monologue.* This accounts in
large part for the apparent incoherence in some of her responses. Each
evening after supper, in the presence of some of the assessors, the no-
taries compared their notes and drafted a text of that day’s proceed-

ings. This original record is known as the French minute.

The judges in any other case would have stopped there, but noth-

ing about Joan’s case was ordinary. Soon after the end of the trial,
Cauchon ordered Thomas de Courcelles, along with the notary
Manchon, to gather the many documents relating to the trial, to trans-
late the French interrogations into Latin, and to put all of this material
in order as a new copy of the entire proceedings. This task involved
more than just translation; it was in part a work of authorship, pro-
ducing what was essentially a new text, a narrative tissue weaving to-
gether the French minute and the supporting documentation. The
trial in this Latin form was intended for distribution; it has been re-
cast in the form of an open letter, addressed “to all who will read the
present letter or public instrument.” The new text introduces the trial
to the reader; gives headings to the many documents; provides intro-
ductions and conclusions to each day’s proceedings, including the list
of assessors present; omits certain consultations; summarizes various
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the canon or Church law that had passed sentence on Joan. Only seven
witnesses were interviewed in Rouen—Jean Beaupere still insisted that
Joan was a fraud—before the inquest was canceled for reasons un-
known."” In 1452, the papal legate to France, Guillaume d’Estouteville,
renewed the investigation into the trial, again in Rouen.!® First twelve
and then a revised twenty-seven articles were drafted as the basis for
the interviews. These articles charged the original trial with harboring
irregularities, such as Joan’s lack of counsel, her imprisonment in a
secular jail, the length of the interviews, and the falsification of the
trial record. The investigation concluded with the circulation of a
summary of charges, but nothing more." Pope Calixtus I1I agreed to a
formal retrial in 1455; he appointed three commissioners, all support-
ers of Charles VII. Moving from Paris to Rouen to Orléans, the tribu-
nal interviewed 115 witnesses, including participants in the original
trial, friends and acquaintances of Joan, bishops, members of the no-
bility, and others. The outcome was inevitable. On July 7, 1456, before
a crowd in the archbishop’s palace, a copy of the original trial was torn
and burned to symbolize the official nullification of the original trial’s
verdict. There was no discussion whatsoever about making Joan into a
saint—that was the work of the twentieth century. The king simply
wanted to clear the air and put the civil war behind him. No one was
punished. Documents were burned, not human beings, writes Charles
VII’s biographer.?” Joan of Arc’s family went away empty-handed. But
in the eyes of many, she had been vindicated.

Our focus is the trial itself. The challenge posed to any close reading of
the trial text will be clear from this overview. What credit do we give a

text that was generated by Joan’s opponents?

The Reliability of the Trial Text

At the royal inquest of 1450, the notary Guillaume Manchon stated
that while taking notes during the trial, “he was sometimes pressed by
the bishop of Beauvais and the judges to write according to their un-
derstanding, contrary to Joan’s meaning. Sometimes when they did
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1
Preparatory Trial

{ )
LW, -

Joan is questioned about her voices, conduct in bat-
tle, wearing of men’s clothing, and other matters. Her
judges decide to proceed to an ordinary trial.

In the name of the Lord, amen. Here begins the trial in matter of faith
against a certain late woman, Joan, commonly called the Maid.

To all who will read the present letter or public instrument, Pierre,
by divine mercy bishop of Beauvais, and Brother Jean Le Maistre, of
the Order of Friars Preachers,' deputy in the diocese of Rouen and es-
pecially appointed to this trial by the pious and worthy Master Jean
Graverent of the same order, distinguished professor of theology and
by apostolic authority inquisitor of the faith and of heresy for all the
kingdom of France: greeting in the Author and Finisher of our faith,?
our Lord Jesus Christ.

It has pleased highest Providence that a woman named Joan, com-
monly called the Maid, should be taken and captured by renowned
warriors within our diocese and jurisdiction. The report has now
reached many places that this woman, utterly disregarding the honor
due the female sex, throwing off the bridle of modesty, and forget-
ting all feminine decency, wore the disgraceful clothing of men, a
shocking and vile monstrosity. Her presumption reportedly grew until
she dared to perform, to speak, and to publicize many things contrary
to the catholic faith and injurious to its articles. She was said to have
committed grave transgressions both in our diocese and in many
other places in this kingdom. When these matters came to the atten-
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Church of France, the ninth indiction, the fourteenth year of Martin
V, pope by divine providence, in the residence of the king’s council
near the castle of Rouen.®
We the bishop assembled here the following doctors and masters:
Gilles, abbot of Holy Trinity of Fécamp, doctor of theology, and
Nicolas, abbot of Jumiéges, doctor of canon law; Pierre, prior of
Longueville, doctor of theology, and Raoul Roussel, treasurer of
Rouen Cathedral, doctor of canon and civil law; Nicolas de Venderes,
archdeacon of Eu, licentiate of canon law, and Robert Le Barbier, li-
centiate of canon and civil law; Nicolas Couppequesne, bachelor of
theology, and Nicolas Loiselleur, master of arts.”
When this great host of famous masters had assembled, we asked
them in their wisdom to settle on a form and order of procedure
and explained to them the pains that had already been taken on this
score. When they fully understood the situation, they said that cer-
tain information needed to be gathered, specifically the general re-
ports circulating about this woman’s words and actions. Acknowl-
edging this advice, we described certain information that had already
been collected at our behest, and decided that more was needed—
all of which would be reported to the council on a day of our choos-
ing, that we might see more clearly what remained to do in this
part of the trial. Then the lords and masters decided that dependable
officers were needed who could carry out these tasks with care and
diligence. Following the masters’ advice, we appointed the esteemed
and wise Master Jean d’Estivet, canon of the cathedral churches of
Bayeux and Beauvais, as promoter or procurator general in this trial,*
and the learned Master Jean de la Fontaine, master of arts and licenti-
ate of canon law, as counsel, steward, and examiner. Knowledgeable
and respected men were chosen as notaries and scribes: Guillaume
Colles, also called Boisguillaume, and Guillaume Manchon, priest,
notaries by apostolic and imperial authority, of the archbishop’s court
of Rouen; while the reverend Jean Massieu, priest and dean of Rouen,
was named executor of our mandates and summons. All these mat-
ters are described more fully in letters drafted for the creation of
these offices. We have ordered that these letters, private and public, be
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brought against her in matters of faith, in accordance with law and
reason. So after considering the common report and public rumors, as
well as the reliable information mentioned above, and after mature
counsel with experts in canon and civil law, we ordered that this Joan
be summoned in writing to answer truthfully the questions put to her
in matters of faith, and that she act according to law and reason, as set
forth in letters shown by the promoter.

The First Exhortation Made to Joan

Desiring then to fulfill our duty in this trial to protect and exalt the
catholic faith, and with the kind aid of Jesus Christ, whom this trial
concerns, we kindly advised and requested Joan, seated before us, to
answer the full truth to questions in matters of faith, both to expedite
the trial and to unburden her own conscience; and to avoid subterfuge
or stratagems that would prevent honest replies.

Request to Take an Oath

What is more, by virtue of our office we judicially requested Joan
to take an oath in due form, touching Holy Gospels, to tell the truth
concerning the things she would be questioned about, as mentioned

earlier.'s
Joan answered: “I don’t know what you wish to ask me. Perhaps

you might ask me things I can’t tell you.”

But when we said to her: “You will swear to tell the truth about the
things we ask you that concern the faith, and <all the other things>
that you know,” she answered in reply that she would gladly swear
concerning her father and mother and the things she had done after
her journey had taken her to France, but that she had never told or re-
vealed to anyone the revelations to her from God, except to Charles
alone, whom she calls her king, nor would she reveal them, even were
it necessary to cut off her head; that she believed her visions or her se-
cret counsel forbade her to reveal them to anyone and that within
eight days she would know very well whether she should reveal them.

And once again and then several more times, we the bishop advised
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her with one or two notable men of the French tongue® to hear her
say the Our Father. But Joan replied that she would say it to them only
in confession.

Then we the bishop forbade Joan to return from her prison cells in
the castle of Rouen without our leave, under pain of conviction of the
crime of heresy. But she said she did not accept this prohibition and
stated further that if she escaped, no one could accuse her of breaking
or violating her oath, since she had never given an oath to anyone.
Finally, she complained of being bound in iron chains and fetters. We
told her that in other places she had often tried to escape from prison,
and for this reason, to guard her more safely and securely, an order
had been given to shackle her with iron chains. She replied: “It’s true
that I wanted to escape from other prisons and that I still do, as is al-
lowable for any captive or prisoner.”

Then we committed Joan to the safekeeping of the nobleman John
Grey, squire of the body of our lord king, and of John Berwoit and
William Talbot with him, charging them to guard Joan well and faith-
fully, and to let no one talk with her without our leave. With their
hands on Holy Gospels, they solemnly swore to do so.

At last, we scheduled Joan to appear the next day, Thursday, at eight
o'clock in the morning, in the robing chamber at the end of the great
hall of the castle of Rouen.

Thursday, February 22. Second session. The Thursday immediately follow-
ing, February 22, we the bishop went to the robing chamber at the
end of the great hall of the castle of Rouen, where reverend fathers,
lords, and masters were assembled together with us: Gilles, abbot of
Holy Trinity of Fécamp, Pierre, prior of Longueville-Giffard, Jean
de Chatillon, Jean Beaupére, Jacques de Touraine, Nicolas Midi, Jean
de Nibat, Jacques Guesdon, Jean le Fevre, Maurice du Quesnay,
Guillaume le Boucher, Pierre Houdenc, Pierre Maurice, Richard Praty,
and Gérard Feuillet, doctors of theology; Abbots Nicolas de Jumieges,
Guillaume de Sainte-Catherine, Guillaume de Cormeilles, along
with Jean Guérin, doctors of canon law; Raoul Roussel, doctor of
canon and civil law; Guillaume Haiton, Nicolas Couppequesne, Jean
Le Maistre, Richard de Grouchet, Pierre Minier, Jean Pigache, Raoul le
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He first urged her to answer the questions truthfully, as she had
sworn. She answered: “You may well ask me some things that I will an-
swer truthfully, and others that I will not” And she added: “If you
were well informed about me, you would wish me out of your hands. I
have done nothing but through revelation.”

Asked next how old she was when she left her father’s house, she
said she did not know for certain.

Asked whether she had learned any skill in her youth, she said
yes, to sew linen and to spin; and she feared no woman in Rouen
for sewing and spinning. Further, she admitted that for fear of the
Burgundians, she left her father’s house and went to the village of
Neufchateau in Lorraine, to the home of a certain woman named La
Rousse, where she stayed around fifteen days.?' She added that while
she was at her father’s house, she attended to household chores and
did not go to the fields with the sheep and other animals.”

Asked whether she confessed her sins each year, she answered,
yes, to her own parish priest; and when her parish priest could not,
she confessed to another priest, by leave of the parish priest. Several
times—two or three times, she thought—she had also confessed to
mendicants; and this was at the town of Neufchateau. And she re-
ceived the sacrament of Eucharist at Easter.

Asked whether she received the sacrament of Eucharist on feasts
other than Easter, she told the interrogator to go on to the next ques-
tion. She declared further that when she was thirteen, she heard a
voice from God helping her to behave. And at first she feared greatly.
And the voice came around noon in the summer, in her father’s gar-
den: and Joan had not fasted the previous day.”* She heard a voice on
her right, toward the church, and she seldom hears it without light.
This light comes from the same side where she hears the voice, but all
around in that place there is a great light. When she came to France,
she often heard the voice.

Asked how she saw the light she spoke of, since the light was at her
side, she did not answer, but passed on to other subjects. She said that
if she was in a wood, she would clearly hear the voices coming to her.
It seemed a worthy voice, and she believed that the voice was sent by
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God; after she heard the voice three times
an angel. She said that the vo ,
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given her, with no other weapons. Accompanied by a knight, a squire,
and four servants, she reached the village of Saint-Urbain and spent
the night there in the abbey.

She said that on that voyage she passed through the village of
Auxerre, and heard Mass there in the great church.” She often heard
her voices then, with the one mentioned above.””

Asked to tell on whose advice she began wearing men’s clothing,
she refused many times to reply. Finally she said she blamed no one
for this; and she changed her answer often.

She said that Robert de Baudricourt made the men of her escort
swear to guide her well and securely. And Robert told Joan when she
left him: “Go, and let come what may.”

Joan also said she knows very well that God loves the duke of
Orléans,® and that she even had more revelations about him than
about any other living person, except for the one she calls her king.
She said, besides, that she had to exchange her clothes for men’s. She
believes her counsel spoke well.

She said she sent a letter to the English at Orléans telling them to
depart, as recorded in a copy of the letter that was read to her in this
town of Rouen®'—except that there are two or three wrong words in
this copy. So this copy says, “Deliver to the maiden,” when it should
read, “Deliver to the king”; and the words “body for body” and “war
chief” were not in the original letter.”

Joan added that she went to the one she calls her king, with no hin-
drance. And when she reached Sainte-Catherine de Fierbois, first she
sent to the one she calls her king; then she went to the village of
Chateau-Chinon, where the one she calls her king was staying.*’ She
arrived there around noon and lodged at a certain inn. After lunch,
she went to the one she calls her king, who was in the castle. She says
that when she entered her king’s chamber, she recognized him among

the others by the counsel of her voice, which revealed him to her. And
she told her king that she wanted to make war on the English.

Asked whether on this occasion, when the voice revealed her king
to her, there was any light in that place, she answered: “Go on to the

next question.”
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Jean de Nibat, Jacques Guesdon, Maurice du Quesnay, Jean le Fevre,
Guillaume le Boucher, Pierre Houdenc, Pierre Maurice, Richard
Praty, Jean Charpentier, Gerard Feuillet, and Denis de Sabrevois, doc-
tors of theology; Abbots Nicolas de Jumiéges, Guillaume de Sainte-
Catherine, Guillaume de Cormeilles, along with Jean Guérin, doc-
tors of canon law, and Raoul Roussel, doctor of canon and civil law;
Nicolas Couppequesne, Guillaume Haiton, Thomas de Courcelles,
Jean Le Maistre, Nicolas Loiselleur, Raoul le Sauvage, Guillaume de
Baudribosc, Nicolas le Mire, Richard le Gagneux, Jean Duval,
Guillaume Le Maistre, and Guillaume Lermite, bachelors of theology;
the abbot of Saint-Ouen, the abbot of Saint-Georges, the abbot of
Préaux, the prior of Saint-Lo, and the prior of Sigy, along with Robert
Le Barbier, Denis Gastinel, and Jean le Doux, licentiates of canon
and civil law; Nicolas de Venderes, Jean Pinchon, Jean de la Fontaine,
Aubert Morel, Jean Duchemin, Jean Colombel, Laurent du Busc,
Raoul Anguy, Richard des Saulx, licentiates of canon law; André
Marguerie, Jean Alespée, Geoffroi du Crotay, Gilles Deschamps,
Nicolas Maulin, Pierre Carrel, Bureau de Cormeilles, licentiates of civil
law; Robert Morellet and Jean le Roy, canons of Rouen Cathedral; and
Nicolas de Foville.

In their presence we first requested Joan to swear simply and com-
pletely to tell the truth about what she would be asked, with no con-
dition to the oath; and we advised her three times about this. Joan
answered: “Allow me to speak” Then she said: “By my faith, you could
ask me things I would not tell you.” She said again: “Perhaps, among
the many things you may ask me, I will not answer the truth to
the questions about revelations. For you might drive me to say some-
thing that I've sworn not to say, and so I would commit perjury—
something you should not wish.” She added: “I tell you, mind well
what you say, that you are my judge, because you are taking on a heavy
burden, and you overburden me.” She also said that swearing the oath
twice seemed plenty.

Asked again to swear, simply and absolutely, she answered: “You
can leave the matter. I've sworn twice; that’s plenty,” adding that all the
clergy of Rouen or Paris would not know how to condemn her, except
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tl:lrough law.”” She said she would gladly tell the truth about her ar-
rival, but not about everything, and that eight days would not be
enough to tell all.

But we the bishop told her to take the advice of the assessors
whether or not to swear. She answered again that she would gladly tell
the truth about her arrival, but nothing else, and that there was no
need to speak further to her about it.

Then we told her that she would open herself to suspicion if she
would not swear to tell the truth. She answered as before.

Again we requested her to swear br
sf:rered that she would gladly tell what she knows, but not all. She said

rther that she came from God and that she has no business here;
and she asked to be sent back to God from whom she came.

Asked and advised again to swear, under penalty of being convicted

of what was imputed t
o her, she answered: © i
el red: “Continue to the next

Finally, we asked her a

iefly and absolutely. She an-

. gain to swear, and we advised her at length to
;e‘: :{F ttruth In what concerns the trial, telling her she was engf:?iﬂS
0 great danger by refusing. She answered: “I'm ready to swear

to tell the truth about what I kn
5 ow that :
won't tell all I know.>” And she e tocol {l:ems the trial. <But I

Th
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Asked what she did :
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eeping, and the voi
Asked whether the voice woke ﬁ e

woke her without touching her.

she answered: “I

came to her,

Erhytoucllinghermshesaidit
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Asked whether the voice was in her room, she said she thinks not,
but it was in the castle.

Asked whether she thanked the voice and genuflected, she said she
thanked it, seated on her bed, and clasped her hands. This was after
she had asked for help. Moreover, the voice told her, Joan, to answer
boldly.

Asked what the voice told her when she was awake, she said she
asked the voice to counsel her how to answer and told the voice to seek
counsel from the Lord; and the voice told her to answer boldly and
God would help her.

Asked whether the voice said anything to her before she asked it,
she said the voice told her things, but she did not understand them all.
Nonetheless, after she was awake, the voice told her to answer boldly.

She told us the bishop: “You say that you are my judge. Take care
what you do, for in truth I am sent from God, and you put yourself in
great peril”—en grant dangier in French.

Asked whether the voice did not sometimes change its advice, she
said she never knew it to contradict itself. She also said she heard it
that night telling her to answer boldly.

Asked whether the voice forbade her to answer all that she was
asked, she answered: “I won't answer you that. I have revelations
touching the king that I won’t tell you.”

Asked whether the voice forbade her to tell her revelations, she an-
swered: “I haven’t been advised about this. Give me fifteen days and
I'll answer you” And when she asked again for time to respond, she
added: “What would you say if the voice has forbidden me?”

Asked again whether this was forbidden her, she answered: “Believe
me, it wasn’t men who forbade me.” She said she would not respond
that day, and she does not know whether to reply until it is revealed to
her.®* She said she firmly believes—as firmly as she believes in the
Christian faith and believes that God redeemed us from the pains of
hell—that the voice comes from God and by his command.

Asked whether the voice that she said appears to her is an angel or
comes directly from God or is the voice of a saint, she answered: “The
voice comes from God; and I believe I'm not telling you all I know. I
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it T would be the most miserable person in the world if I knew I was
not in the grace of God.” She said further that if she were in a state of
sin, she believes the voice would not come to her; she wishes that ev-
eryone could understand it as well as she can. She thinks she was
around thirteen when the first voice came to her.*”

Asked whether she used to play in the fields with other children
when she was young, she said sometimes she certainly did, but she
does not know at what age.

Asked whether the villagers of Domrémy took the side of the
Burgundians or the other side, she said she knew only one Burgundian
there, and she would gladly have seen his head cut off, so long as it
pleased God.

Asked whether there were Burgundians or enemies of the
Burgundians at the village of Maxey, she said Burgundians.

Asked whether, when she was young, the voice told her to hate
Burgundians, she said that after she understood that the voices were
for the king of France, she did not love the Burgundians. She said the
Burgundians will have war unless they do what they ought; she knows
this from the voice.

Asked whether, when she was young, she had a revelation from the
voice that the English should come to France, she said the English
were already in France when the voices started coming to her.

Asked whether she was ever with little children who fought for
the side she supports, she said no, not that she remembers; but she
certainly did see some children from Domrémy who fought against
others from Maxey, sometimes returning home quite wounded and
bleeding.

Asked whether, when she was young, she fully intended to pursue
the Burgundians, she said she had a great will or desire that her king
should have his kingdom.

Asked whether she had wanted to be a man when she was supposed
to come to France, she said she had answered that already.”

Asked whether she took animals to the fields, she said she had al-
ready answered that. After she had grown up and had more judgment,
in general she did not look after the animals, but, fearing the soldiers,

SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 24

61

v




< pa

h .
lsarfddllglu}:e]}l: lzad them to the meadows and to a castle called the Is-
. S
e YOunge: oes not recall whether she looked after them when she

viu:;l:e:fa;z‘;:; certain tree near her village, she said that close by the
e e of the “my is a t}'ee called the ladies’ tree, and others call it
M5 engy al.nl:s, fées in French, which is near a spring. She heard
S wit fthve fev.er drink from the spring,“ and they go in
bias Whethe‘:at:-,er or healing. She saw this herself, but she does not
lift themselves u eytﬁre cured. She said she heard that when they can
large beech tree f;o s su-:k 80 to the tree to walk about there. It is a
And it belonged’ b m which they get the May, in French le beau mai.*®
said that sornf.-til-nY q;ftom to Lord Pierre de Bourlémont, knight. She
wreaths near the t:s Sfe ¥ for a walk with the other girls and made
many times she h::-do:hthe image of Blessed Mary of Domrémy. And
il ¢ old folk (not those of her family) say that

ere. And she heard from a woman named Joan,

a
yor Aubery of that town and her own godmother, that

Joan did not know wh

e sl i w whether or not

ot Rnew i v yoa:m Sht:: NEver saw fairies near the tree, as far as

times she did so with gtilrls p_ut wreaths in the branches, and some-

sometimes they left the;)n il‘ftglrls; sometimes they took them away,
. Afte

to France, she spent little ﬁmeri; ¢ knew she was supposed to come

she reached the .
age of discretion: ;
danced there with the chi]d_renog' but sometimes she may well have

ut she sang more than danced. She

Ll:rt, E—nd she contradicted him, She says th
= ;nge’dmme f)f them asked her whether th at when she came to
_ le Bois chesnu in French, because th €T€ Was a wood in her
ing that a maiden who would perform €T€ Were prophecies say-

wond
from that wood. But Joan said that she put :;s;i:; S“PdP:S'SCd to come
i

SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 24

62

Asked whether she wanted a woman’s dress, she answered: “Please
give me one garment; I'll take it and go. Otherwise, I won’t take it, and
’'m content with this, since it pleases God that I wear it.”

After these matters were brought to a close, we ended the interroga-
tion for that day and scheduled the Tuesday following to continue the
interrogation with all present, at the same hour and at the same place.

Tuesday, February 27. Fourth session. Tuesday, February 27, we the bishop
arrived as on previous days at the chamber of the castle of Rouen,
where we had sat in judgment. There also appeared reverend fathers,
lords, and masters: Gilles, abbot of Holy Trinity of Fécamp, Pierre,
prior of Longueville-Giffard, Jean Beaupére, Jacques de Touraine,
Nicolas Midi, Pierre Maurice, Gérard Feuillet, Jean de Nibat, Jacques
Guesdon, Maurice du Quesnay, Jean le Févre, Guillaume le Boucher,
Pierre Houdenc, Jean de Chatillon, Erard Emengart, Jean de Fano,
Denis de Sabrevois, Nicolas le Mire, and Jean Charpentier, doctors of
theology; Abbots Nicolas de Jumieges, Guillaume de Sainte-Catherine,
Guillaume de Cormeilles, along with Jean Guérin, doctors of canon
law; Raoul Roussel, doctor of canon and civil law; Guillaume Haiton,
Nicolas Couppequesne, Guillaume de Baudribosc, Richard de
Grouchet, Pierre Minier, Thomas de Courcelles, Jean Le Maistre, and
Jean le Vautier, bachelors of theology; the abbot of Préaux; Guillaume
Desjardins, doctor of medicine; Robert Le Barbier, Denis Gastinel,
Jean le Doux, Nicolas de Venderes, Jean Pinchon, Jean Basset, Aubert
Morel, Jean Duchemin, Jean de la Fontaine, Jean Colombel, Jean
Bruillot, Raoul Anguy, licentiates of canon law; Jean Alespée, Geoffroi
du Crotay, Gilles Deschamps, Nicholas Caval, Pierre Carrel, Nicolas
Maulin, licentiates of civil law; and Nicolas Loiselleur and Robert
Morellet, canons of Rouen Cathedral.

In their presence we first requested Joan to take an oath to tell the
truth on matters touching the trial. She said she would gladly swear to
tell the truth about matters touching the trial, but not everything she
knows.

Again we asked her to tell the truth about everything that she
would be asked. She answered as before: “You should be content, I
have sworn enough.”
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about this.” she says. “If you doubt this, send to Poitiers where 1 was
interrogated on another occasion.”*

Asked how she knows there are two saints, how she clearly knows
one from the other, she said she knows very well who they are and
clearly knows one from the other.

Asked how she knows one from the other, she answered that she
knows them by their greeting to her. She also said that a good seven
years have passed since they undertook to guide her. She knows the
saints because they tell her their names.

Asked whether the saints are dressed in the same cloth, she an-
swered: “I will tell you nothing else; I don’t have permission to reveal
it. If you don’t believe me, go to Poitiers.” She said there are some reve-
lations that concern the king of France, not those who interrogate her.

Asked whether the saints are the same age, she answered that she
had no leave to say.

Asked whether the saints speak together, or one after the other, she
answered: “I don’t have permission to say; but I always receive counsel
from them both.”#

Asked which one first appeared to her, she answered: “I didn’t know
them immediately; I knew this at one time, but now I’ve forgotten. If I
have leave, I'll gladly tell; it’s recorded in the register at Poitiers” She
added that she had received comfort from Saint Michael.**

Asked which of these apparitions came to her first, she said Saint
Michael.

Asked whether much time had passed since she first heard the voice
of Saint Michael, she answered: “I do not name the voice of Saint Mi-
chael to you, I speak rather of great comfort.”

Asked which voice first came to her, when she was thirteen or
thereabouts, she said she saw Saint Michael before her eyes; and he
was not alone, but was well attended by angels from heaven. She said

she came to France only by God’s command.

Asked whether she saw Saint Michael and the angels bodily and re-
ally, she answered: “I saw them with my bodily eyes, just as well as I see
you; and when they left me, I wept and truly wished they had taken
me with them.”

TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 27

65




2 sAskf:t;]1 what Sl.lape Saint Michael took, she answered: “I haven’t yet
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sign she gives to show that the revelation comes from

God, and that she is :
s . ¢ :
ret, she answered: “I’E eaking with Saint Catherine and Saint Marga-

e told i
Catheri g you often enough that th Saint
erine and Saint Margaret; believe me if yoﬁ wislil i P

Asked wheth ;
er she was forbidden to say this, she answered: “I

haven’t
n't clearly understood whether or not this is forbidden.”

Asked how she kn,
ows :
not others, she said she sot::e difference, to answer some things and

some she received it She ght permission for some points, and for
asunder by horses t};an haiays further that she would rather be torn
sion. © come to France without God’s permis-

God and the angels.

A)SkEd Wwhether it seemed to
men,s attire was lawful, she an
Lord’s command. If he commanded me I'have done is by the

would do it, since this woul to put on i
A d be . something else, I
Asked whether she did by Gods Command?” e

SO at the
she answered no, Sreeon Robert de Baudricourt,
Asked whether she thinks she has done wel] ¢, take
men’s attire, she
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said that all she has done by the Lord’s command, she believes she has
done well, and she trusts for good sanction and aid from it.

Asked whether she thinks she has done well in this particular case,
in taking men’s attire, she said she did nothing in the world but by
God’s command.

Asked whether, when she saw the voice come to her, there was
light with it, she said there was much light all around, and this seemed
fitting. She further told the interrogator that all the light did not
reach her.®

Asked whether there was an angel over her king’s head when she
first saw him, she answered: “By Blessed Mary! If so, I don’t know and
I didn’t see it.”

Asked whether there was a light there, she answered: “There were
more than three hundred knights and fifty torches there, not counting
the spiritual light. I seldom have revelations without light”

Asked why her king put faith in her words, she said he had good
signs—and through the clergy.

Asked what kind of revelations her king had, she answered: “You
will not learn them from me this year.” She said she was questioned by
clergy for three weeks at Chinon and Poitiers. Her king had a sign
about her mission before he would believe her. And the clerks of her
side held the opinion that, as it seemed to them, there was only good
in her mission.

Asked whether she was ever at Sainte-Catherine de Fierbois, she
said yes, she heard three masses there on the same day and then went
to Chinon. She says she sent her king a letter asking to enter the town
where her king was, saying she had made good progress over 150
leagues to reach him for his aid, and that she knew many things to his
benefit. She thought the letter said that she would know her king from
all the others quite clearly. She says she had a sword that she took at
Vaucouleurs. When she was at Tours or at Chinon, she added, she sent
to find a sword in the church of Sainte-Catherine de Fierbois, behind
the altar; and it was immediately found, completely rusted.

Asked how she knew the sword was there, she said the sword was in
the ground, rusted, bearing five crosses; she knew from the voices that
it was there, and she never saw the person who went in search of the
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sword. She wrote to the clergy of the place asking them to please let
her have the sword, which they sent her. It was buried not very deep,
behind the altar, she thought. She does not rightly know whether it
was in front of or behind the altar, but she thinks that at the time she
Wrote to say it was behind the altar. She says as soon as the sword was
found, the clergy there rubbed it and at once the rust fell off effort-
lessly. An armorer of Tours went looking for it, and the clergy and the
citizens of Tours together gave Joan a scabbard, and they ordered two
scabbards: one of red velvet, velours vermeil in French, and another of
cloth of gold. She herself had another made of stiff leather. She says
she did not have the sword with her when she was captured. She car-
ried the sword continuously from the time she received it until she left
Saint-Denis, after the assault on Paris,

Asked what blessing she pronounced or directed to be pronounced
upon the sword, she said she never blessed it there or had it blessed,

nor would she know how to do so. She treasured the sword because it
had been found in the church of Saint Catherine,
very much.

Asked whether she was ever at
she said she did not know.s

Asked whether she sometimes Placed her sword upon the altar, she
said no, as far as she knows, at 1

€ast not so that it should have better
fortune.

Asked whether she ever
fortune, she answered: “It’s
my armor”—mon harnois in

whom she loved

the town of Coulange-la-Vineuse,

prayed that her sword would have better
80od to know that | would have wished
French—*“to have good fortune.”

Asked whether she had h

er sword when she was captured, she said
no, but she had a sword that was taken from a Burgundian,

had it at Lagny, and took it from there to Compiegne
good battle sword, good for giving hard strokes and blows, in French
de bonnes buffes et de bons torchons, But she says that to te]] where she
left it does not concern the trial, and she will not answer this for now.

Her brothers have her possessions, horses, and sword, she thinks. and
other things more than 12,000 écus in value = A

since it was a
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Asked whether, when she went to Orléans, sl:ne had a ban‘lcllerh—
estandart or baniére in French—and what COl.()}."lt was, she ;a: slg
had a banner with a field sown with fleurs-de-lis; it plcturefl t ltia woror
with two angels on either side; it was white, .rnade of white hnen 2
fine buckram. The names Jesus, Mary were written there, she thought;

i inged with silk.*
ani’:}:;iﬁ:;ﬁ; the names Jesus, Mary werehwritten above, below, or
ide, she said on the side, it seemed to her. :

< t:\l.:lts::ii‘:.\rhic:h she preferred, her banner or sword, she said shefv:ha.:
much fonder, indeed forty times fonder, of the banner than o
Sw(::l;ed who persuaded her to make the picture on the bannen;,h ?:e
answered: “I have told you often enough that I have do}r:e nti) Ckeg
but by God’s command.” She carried the banner when_ s kfl l'at aom3
the enemies, to avoid killing anyone; she says she never did anE Sh‘;

Asked what forces her king gave her when he set her to thf;ar tast : i
said ten or twelve thousand men, and at Orléans she went 54st 0
fortress of Saint-Loup, and then to the fortress at the brldg;. e

Asked to which fort she ordered her men to retreat, she sml -
does not remember. She says she was quite certain fro_m her ;e}re a .
that she would lift the siege of Orléans; she told her king so before g
mgAt.:ll:;: whether, at the moment of attack, she did not tell her trooi:;:
that she would receive all arrows, bolts, and rocks from the catapuenl
and cannons, she said no; on the contrary, a hundred or n}ore E
were wounded. But she did indeed tell her men to have nof e:cr, : tg
would raise the siege. She says that during the attack onltl"n; (: hz e
bridge, she was wounded in the neck by an arrow or !Jo .t, ﬁ‘flt s da
great comfort from Saint Catherine and was healed within eend ys.
But she did not give up riding and working because of the wou:l;l d. i

Asked whether she knew well in advance tha't she wo i
wounded, she said she knew very well and tok‘i .her king, bl:lt non; s
less she would not abandon her responsibilities. The voices o o
saints revealed it to her, Blessed Catherine and Blessed Marg'ar;t.
was the first to put the ladder against the fort at the bridge; she was
wounded in the neck by the bolt while raising the ladder.
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Iar;?::gs ;1}:3}(551'1; did not conclude a treaty with the captain of
would not get ;11 (tihe fords of her party told the English that they
they should takefh x lay of fifteen days they had requested, but that
S v ke t;lr horses and leave within the hour. For her part,
could leave in thei t:ipeople from Jargeau that if they wished, they
otherwise they wo:.;d Eublets and tunics and escape with their lives;
T
er she had any conversation with her counsel—that is

to say her voices—; h
o about whe er o 1
she dis ; 5 ther or not to grant the delay, she Sald

With these matt
and we scheduled ;:: i‘gﬁduded’ further interrogation was postponed,

terrogation, owing Thursday for further inquiry and in-

March 1. Fifth session
. Th 7
accustomed chamber of l:ll;id: " epainG

- in judgment, in the presen astle of Rouen; and Joan appeared before
Gilles, abbot of Holy Trinj ce of reverend fathers, lords, and masters:
Giffard, Jean de Chagijj nity of Fécamp, Pierre, prior of Longueville-
Touraine, Nicolas Midf nf)Er?rd Emengart, Jean Beaupére, Jacques de
Feuillet, Maurice 4y Ql; e d"f Sabrevois, Pierre Maurice, Gérard
Jean de Nibat, Jean le : Snay, Guillaume le Boucher, Pierre Houdenc,
Abbots Nicolas . ]ac‘:!“es Guesdon, doctors of theology;
Guillaume de Sainte-Catherine, Guil-

Ig: 'Guﬂlaume Haiton, Nicolas
uillaume de Baudribosc, Jean

Bruillot, Jean Pincho Basset BY:: Ni
; Stk > Nicolas de Vend
Jean Colombel, Richard des Jean de la Fontaine ;l;ozéiﬂﬁua;

urent du Busc, Philippe le M Auben Morel, Jean Duchemin,

Gastinel, » licentj
el, Jean le Doux, Robert Le B, 2tes of canon law; Denis

civil law; André Marguerie, - ilcemlatt:s of canon and

Jean Alespée
Caval, i : .
Geoffroi du Crotay, Pierre Cave, N;':‘zles Deschamps, Nicholas

las Maulin, Jicentiates of
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civil law; Robert Morellet and Nicolas Loiselleur, canons of Rouen Ca-
thedral.

In their presence we summoned and requested Joan to swear to tell
the truth, simply and absolutely, about the things she was to be asked.

She said that she was ready to swear to tell the truth about all she
knew that concerned the trial, as she had already said. She said she
knows much that does not concern the trial, and she need not speak of
those things. She said once again: “Everything I know that truly con-
cerns the trial I will gladly tell”

Again summoned and requested to take the oath, she answered:
“What I know to answer truly, I'll gladly tell, as far as what touches the
trial” So she swore, touching Holy Gospels. Then she said: “I'll gladly
tell the truth about what I know that touches the trial; and I'll tell you
just what I would tell if I were before the pope in Rome.”

Asked what she says about our lord the pope, and who she believes
is the true pope, she answered by asking if there were two.

Asked whether she had received a letter from the count of
Armagnac asking which of the three popes he should obey, she said
the count had written her a letter about this and she had responded by
saying, among other things, that she would give him an answer when
she was at Paris, or when she had time elsewhere.’ She was about to
mount her horse when she answered him.

Then we ordered to be read in court a copy of the letters from the
count and from Joan, and Joan was asked whether this was her re-
sponse in the copy. She answered that she supposed that she had made
this reply in part, but not all of it.

Asked whether she had claimed to know, by the counsel of the King
of kings, what the count should think on this matter, she said she
knew nothing about it.

Asked whether she had any doubt about whom the count should
obey, she said she did not know what to tell him about whom to obey,
because the count wanted to know whom God would have him obey.
But as for her, Joan, she holds and believes that we should obey our
lord the pope in Rome. She added that she told the count’s messenger
more than is in this copy of the letter; had not the messenger left at
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once, he would have been hurled into the water, but not by her. She
said that in regard to his question about whom God wished him to
obey, she replied that she did not know; but she gave him many in-
structions not put in writing. As for her, she believes in the pope at
Rome.

Asked why she wrote that she would reply some other time, since
she believed in the pope at Rome, she answered that she had said this
about another matter, not the three popes.

Asked whether she had said that she would receive counsel on the
matter of the three popes, she said she had never written or caused to
be written anything on the matter of the three popes. She swore
this by her oath: never had she written or ordered to be written any-
thing at all.

Asked whether she customarily put in her letters the names Jesus,
Mary with a cross, she said that in some she did, in some she did not.
Sometimes she placed a cross as a signal to someone of her party not
to do what her letter said.

The content of the letters that the counts and Joan wrote to one an-
other is included below among the articles of the promoter.s’

Then she was read the letters she had sent to the lord our king, to
the duke of Bedford, and to others; the content of these letters is also
included below among the articles of the promoter.

Next she was asked whether she recognized the letters. She said yes,
except for three phrases: where it says “give to the Maiden” it should
say “give to the king”; where it says “war captain”; and a third passage
that says “body for body.” These words were not in the letter she sent.
No lord ever dictated these letters, she says, but she dictated them
before sending them, though certainly she showed them to some of
her party.

She says that before seven years have | i i
greater stake than they did at Orléans,pmﬁtll:eﬁn l-i‘z]:: i‘:lll:rl;):ecea
Further, the English will suffer a greater loss than they ever had m
France, through a great victory that God will give the French.

Asked how she knows this, she answered: “| know quite well by
revelation made to me, and that it will o

: happen within seven &
I might well be angry that it should be delayed so long” Syl::r:)dzg
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that she knows this by revelation, just as plainly as she knows we are
there before her.
Asked when this will happen, she said she does not know the day or
the hour. :
Asked what year it will happen, she answered: “Yo.u will n:)t yet
learn that; but truly I wish it were before the feast of Sal_nt John.”**
Asked whether she said it would happen before Martinmas, she an-
swered that she had said that many things would come to pass before
Martinmas; and possibly the English would be overthrown.‘.'“
Asked what she said to John Grey, her jailer, about Martinmas, she
answered: “I've told you that.” ;
Asked through whom she knew this would happen, she said she
knew this by Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret.
Asked whether Saint Gabriel was with Saint Michael when he came
to her, she said she did not remember. . ;
Asked whether she had spoken with Saint (%atherme and Saint
Margaret since last Tuesday, she said yes, but she did not know at what
hour. 5
Asked on what day, she answered, yesterday and today; not a day
passes but she hears them. : h
Asked whether she always sees them in the same clothmg,. she
said she always sees them in the same shape; their figures are richly
crowned. She does not speak of the rest of their appearance. She
knows nothing of their robes. i
Asked how she knows whether the apparition 1s a man or woman,
she said she knows very well and recognizes them by their voices, 2fnd
they revealed themselves to her; she knows nothing but by revelation
and command of God.
Asked what shape she sees there, she said she sees a face..
Asked whether the saints that appear to her have hair, she an-
swered: “It’s a good thing to know, yes” . :
Asked whether there was anything between their crowns and their
hair, she said no. ; =
Asked whether their hair was long and flowing, she answered: “I
know nothing about it She added that she does not know whether
they have something in the way of arms or other members. They
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spoke exceedingly well and beautifully, and she understood them per-
fectly.

Asked how they spoke, if they have no other body parts, she an-
swered: “I leave that to God” She says further that the voice is lovely,
pleasant, and low, and speaks in French.

Asked whether Saint Margaret does not speak English, she an-
swered: “Why would she speak English, when she is not on the English
side?”

Asked whether the heads with crowns w
somewhere else, she answered: “I know nothing about this.”

Asked whether she, Joan herself, has any rings, she directed her an-
swer to us the bishop:*! “You have one of mine, give it back to me.” She

said that the Burgundians have another ring, and asked us, if we have
the ring, to show it to her.

Asked who gave her the rin
her father or mother;

ore rings in the ears or

g that the Burgundians have, she said
and she seems to recall the names Jesus, Mary
written on it. She does not know who caused it to be written, nor, she
thinks, does it have a stone; she was given the ring at Domrémy. She
says her brother gave her the other ring that we have; she charged us to

beneath the tree mentioned earlier, she answered: know nothing
about that”

Asked whether they spoke to her at the Spring near the tree, she
said yes, she heard them there. But she does not know what they said
to her.

Asked what the saints promised her, there or elsewhere,
they promised her nothing except by God’s leave,

Asked what promises they made her, she answered: “This has noth-

ing at all to do with your trial” Among other things, they told her that

her king would be restored to his kingdom, whether his enemies
wanted it or not. Further, she said they promised to bring her, Joan, to

paradise, and she asked them to do so.
Asked whether she had any other
other one, but she will not tell it,

and it has nothing to do with th
trial. She says she will reveal another promise within three mc::lths :

she said

Promises, she sajq there is an-
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Asked whether the voices told her that 'she would ‘be i:reedci) f::I:E
prison in three months, she answered: “This ha's not};nfd ’?She o
your trial; nonetheless, I don’t know when Ilwﬂl b; e. l-.lt o
that those who want to remove her from this world mig

art first. ;
¢ Asked whether her counsel did not tell her that she will b; sit,altl f::
from prison, she answered: “Talk to me in three .monthhs, ahr:: seasiret
swer you.” She added: “Ask the assessors on their oath w!
concerns the trial” i

After this, the assessors took counsel, and Fhey all agr:ahedttha:c1 1’; (:ln’t
Then Joan said: “I have always told you qu1t~le clearly a. y;owhen 1
know everything, and at some point there will come a'\ tmll i3
must be freed. I wish for permission if I am to tell you; so
delay.” :

A);ked whether the voices forbade her to_ tell the trutl;l, s:j; a.r;f
swered: “Do you want me to tell you what is mtend?d for the ger
Franceé Many things do not concern the trial.” She sald. she kn(;:;sﬂv ai
well that her king will regain the kingdom of France, just la: ;:ave Jied
she knows we are seated before her in judgr}:llzlnt. She wou

: 7
b the revelation that comforts her each da '
utAf.;)l:ed irll;?t, she had done with her mandrake, she said th.at she does
not nor ever did have a mandrake.®? She heard that t_he:re 19;1:ne n;z:
her village, but she has never seen it. She hemtd that it is a danger
and wicked thing to keep. She does not know its properfusi.e sire
Asked where this mandrake is that she has hfaard of, s.; o
had heard it is near the tree she mentioned earlier, but she b
know the location. She has heard that a hazel grows on top
drake. ‘ :
maj;sked what she has heard the mandrake is good. for, .sh:{ s:x‘::lo is;}z
had heard that it attracts money, but she does not believe it. He
told her anything about this.
ne\:srk:d what shape Saint Michael took when. he appfaared to htesr, she
said she did not see his crown and knew nothing ?f his garmen .GOd
Asked whether he was naked, she answered: “Do you think
’t find him clothes?” ; '
can}’\sked whether he had hair, she answered: “Why would it be cut
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off?” She added that she had not seen Saint Michael since she left the
castle of Crotoy,® nor does she see him often. She said at last that she
does not know whether he has hair.

Asked whether he was holding a scale,* she answered: “I know
nothing about that.” She added that she feels great joy when she sees

him; and it seems to her that she is not in mortal sin when she sees

him. Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret gladly have her confess from
time to time,

each in turn. She says that if she is in mortal sin, she is
not aware of it,

Asked whether, when she confesses,

she said she does not know whether she has been in mortal sin, and
she does not believe she has done an

ything to warrant it. “Please God,”
she said, “I never have been, and may it please him I never will do such
things as might burden my soul”

Asked what sign she gave her kin
swered: “I have always
Go ask him”

Asked whether she swore not to reveal what would be asked con-
cerning the trial, she answered: “I have already said that I won’t speak
to you about matters meant for our king. I won’t talk about what con-
cerns him directly”

Asked whether she does not know the sign she gave her king, she
answered: “You won't learn this from me” Then, when she was told
that this concerns the trial, she answered: | won't tell you what I've
promised to keep secret” And she added: “I promised and can't tell
you without perjury.”

she believes she is in mortal sin,

g that she was from God, she an-
told you that you will not drag that out of me.

this request, for too many people would have questioned,her had she
not made the promise to the saints,

Asked whether there was anyone
she showed him the sign, she said sh,
people were nearby.

Asked whether she saw a crown

on the H_ng’s head wh
him the sign, she answered: “I can’t answer thag Withoutm 51}e sh”owed

else in the king’s company when
e thought not, although plenty of
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ims, she
Asked whether her king had a crown when h; \.\mcsl :;c f:::ms e
said she thought her king took the crown that he Fun gy
eat pleasure. But a really rich one was brought atir. ks
ﬁrasteh his deed [that is, his coronation], at the reqll:eswzi st e
Reims, to avoid the burden of arme(% men. Had he )
thousand times richer. e
ha‘: };(33 ivchr;‘;:rashe had seen this richer crown, Sh.e a;n;;zr; A%
can’tst:]l you without risking perjury. If I haven’t seen 1t,
it i ich and splendid.” e
ﬂ‘a;‘r:t;f :l?e;le matters concluded, we endeld for that dayn?ir:i :clzl o
Saturday at the hour of eight in the morning for th(leaz s
we requested those present to gather in the same p
hour.

i iately fol-
Saturday, March 3. Sixth session. On Saturday, March ler)l:;:llzs, i‘.;’l .
lowing 'at the place designated above, Joan aPP‘.?a(f;:ues “bbot of Holy
resen::e of reverend fathers, lords, and 1'1'1auster.5-l : al; .
grinity of Fécamp, Pierre, prior of Longuevq]*l fu'a;le Nicolas Midi,
Erard Emengart, Jean Beauptre, 'Iacqu.es - (])arard Pierre Maurice,
Denis de Sabrevois, Nicolas Lami, Guﬂ}aum; udeI;c, st Su b
Gérard Feuillet, Maurice du Quesnay, Pierre Ho g T
doctors of theology; Guillaume, abbot of.Notre'- e
law; Guillaume Desjardins, Gilles Quenv # sprerd
g;ca?r ?f cM:io(r'ljui]la)urnve de la Chambre, doctors of miilc:;z,n ]
rivain, an ; e |
b(.)t - Saint‘Gemge:ed?[i;:;x :i:hceoﬁzelles, Guillaume Le l;lflal:ltse;
gfi.ill:sn?: ];l;pl::s;:ibt’)sc, Jean Pigache, Raoul 18 Sam;ag;::;: ;;ctor
Groucll:et, Pierre Minier, bachelors oi.? theology; l]e;::) CT AR
of canon and civil law; Jean Duchemin, Jean Co o - émtay, il
Aubert Morel, licentiates of canon la‘f; GeOffl'i:—‘lﬂ i S
de Cormeilles, Nicolas Maulin, licentiates of civ H
Loiselleur, canon of Rouen Cathedral. e
pyi s T S Swefb ked. She answered:
d absolutely, about the things she was to be asked. i
E]}?,mm:eady to swear as I've done formerly.” And so she swore,

Holy Gospels.*
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Then, because she had stated that Saint Michael had wings,% and
yet she had said nothing about the bodies and members of Saint
Catherine and Saint Margaret, she was asked what she wished to
say about them. She answered: “I have told you what I know, and I
have nothing else to tell you.” She added that she had seen Saint Mi-
chael and the other saints so clearly that she knew they were saints of
paradise.

Asked whether she saw anything besides their faces, she answered:
“T've told you all I know about this; and while telling all I know, I'd
rather you had cut my throat” She said she will gladly tell all she
knows that concerns the trial.

Asked whether she believes that Saint Michael and Saint Gabriel
have natural heads,” she answered: “I saw them with my own eyes,
and I believe they were there as surely as I believe there is a God.”

Asked whether she believes that God made them in the same man-
ner and shape® in which she sees them, she said yes.

Asked whether she believes that God created them from the begin-

ning in that manner and shape, she answered: “You will get nothing
more for now than what I’ve already answered”

Asked whether she knew by revelation that she would escape, she
answered: “This doesn’t concern your trial. Do
against myself?”

Asked whether her voices told her anything about it, she answered:
“This doesn’t concern your trial; I trust to God. If everything con-
cerned you, I would tell you all” She added that, upon her oath, she
does not know the day or the hour when she will escape.

Asked whether the voices spoke to her about
swered: “Yes, in truth. They told me I would be
the day or the hour;
nance.”

you want me to speak

this in general, she an-
freed, but I don’t know
and I should boldly put on a cheerful counte-

Asked whether, when she first approached her king,
whether her revelation ordered her to change her attire,
“T've answered you this; I don’t remember if that
written down at Poitiers.”

Asked whether she remembered whether the masters who exam-

he asked her
she answered:
was asked of me. It’s
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ined her in the other obedience, some for a rno‘nth, others for t:.ris;
weeks, questioned her about her change of attire, s’he answere .dl
don’t remember. They asked me where I took up men's clothing, an:
told them Vaucouleurs.”

Asked whether these masters asked her whether she h.a.f‘lI tgk::
men’s clothing at the command of her voices, she answered: o
remember.”

Asked whether, on her first visit, her queen® had isked her about
her change of attire, she answered: “I don’t remember. o

Asked whether her king, queen, and others of her party i
sometimes ask her to set aside her men’s garments, she answered:
“This does not concern your trial.” ‘

Asked whether she had not been asked to do so at thl:al ;z:,;l: St:t
Beaurevoir,” she answered: “Yes indeed, alfd I said I \Zo e
them aside without God’s leave” <She said that the erm::t i
Luxembourg requested the lord of Luxembourg that !oa;'l nc; seat
rendered to the English.>7' She said that the demmse,l e ;)th' 7
bourg and the lady of Beaurevoir offered her lwomens c (:'id l}r:ég’did
cloth to make some, and they asked her to put it on. She said s

issi i time.
not have God’s permission, that it was not yet

Asked whether Lord Jean de Pressy and others at Arras offeie(eia l:::l
women’s clothing, she said that he and many others often entr
her to wear it.”? ’

Asked whether she believes that she would hav? comn?lt.ted a fautlt
or sinned mortally in taking women’s dress, she said th?t itis bett;r 0
obey and serve her supreme lord, that is, God. She said if shei-1 harcl ,f:;
obliged to wear women’s dress, she would have don'e so at t esa‘: o
of those two ladies more readily than of any others in France,
qmi:?l;ed whether, when God revealed to her that she sho.uld cl:ta}:lgel
her clothing to men’s clothing, this was by the voice of Saint I:f.liY:l
or by the voice of Saint Catherine or Margaret, she answered:
will get nothing more out of me now.” :

Aiked whether, when her king set her to work and shv:ﬂ: had her laazf
ner made, other soldiers had not had pennons made in the style
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hers, she answered: “It’s good to know that the lords take care of their
arms.” She said that some of her companions-at-arms had pennons
made, others did not.

Asked what material they used, linen or wool, she said white satin,
with lilies on some. Joan herself had only two or three lances in her
company; but her companions-at-arms sometimes had pennons like
hers made, but only to distinguish themselves from others.

Asked whether the pennons were often restored, she answered:
“I don’t know. When the lances were broken, new pennons were
made.”

Asked whether she sometimes said that pennons made like hers
were lucky, she said she did indeed sometimes say to those of her
party: “Go boldly among the English,” and she did the same thing
herself.

Asked whether she told them to bear the pennons boldly and they
would have good luck, she said she did in fact tell them what had hap-
pened and what would happen again.

Asked whether she sprinkled the pennons with holy water or had
others do so when they were first carried, she answered: “I know noth-
ing of that. If this was done, it was not by my command.”

Asked whether she saw them sprinkled with holy water, she an-
swered: “This doesn’t concern your trial. If I saw it done, I am not ad-
vised to answer you now.” ;

Asked whether her comrades-at-arms had the names Jesus, Mary
put on her pennons, she answered: “By my faith, I do not kno“;.”

Asked whether she had carried, or had others carry, cloth for the
pennons around an altar or church, in the manner of a procession, she
said no, nor did she see it happen. ,

Asked what she was wearing at the back of her helmet when she
was before the town of Jargeau, and whether it was somethi und
she ank:rered: “By my faith, there was nothing there” ing round,

As whether she ever knew : ; «
never saw him until I came before '?‘:gyt::_:nm BN e amowerod: °1

Asked what sort of greeting this Brother Richar

that the inhabitants of Troyes, d made her, she said

she thinks, sent hj .
et o S e e i
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friar approached her, he made the sign of the cross and sprinkled holy
water. And she told him: “Approach boldly—I won't fly away”” :

Asked whether she had seen or had had made any images or paint-
ings of herself, after her likeness, she said she saw a painting at Arras’™
in the hands of a Scotsman; it showed her fully armed, presenting let-
ters to her king, with her knee bent. She said she never saw or had
made any other image or painting of herself. I3

Asked whether, in her host’s house at Orléans, there was a painting
showing three women, with the inscription “Justice, Peace, Union,” she
said she knew nothing about that.”

Asked whether she knew that members of her party had ordered
that a service, Mass, and prayers be performed in her honor, she said
she knew nothing of this; if they have had any service performed, sl:ne
did not order it. But if they have prayed for her, she thinks they did
nothing wrong.”

Asked whether the members of her party firmly believe that she_ has
been sent by God, she answered: “I don’t know whether they behev.e,
and I leave it to their judgment; but if they don’t believe, 1 have still
been sent by God.”

Asked whether she thinks they believed well, in believing that she
has been sent by God, she answered: “If they believe I am sent by God,
they are not deceived.”

Asked whether she knew the thoughts of the members of her party,
when they kissed her feet, hands, and clothing, sh.e said that many
gladly saw her and that they kissed her hands as little as she cou'ld
manage. The poor gladly came to her, for she brought them no dis-
pleasure, but rather helped them to bear [their misfortune].”

Asked what honor the citizens of Troyes paid her upon her en-
trance into the town, she said they paid no honor. She added that, as
she remembers, Brother Richard entered Troyes with her and her
party; but she does not recall whether he saw her enter.”*

Asked whether Brother Richard preached a sermon when she ar-
rived, she said she did not stay there long;” as for a sermon, she knows

i it.
nois??ﬁfwhether she spent many days at Reims, she said she believes
that she and her party were there five or six days.®®
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: Asked whether she acted as godmother to a child there, she said she
did so for one at Troyes; but she does not remember doing so at Reims
or at Chateau-Thierry. She did so for two children at Saint-Denis in
Frann.j,e. She gladly named the boys Charles, in honor of her king, and
the girls Joan; sometimes she named them as the mothers wished.

As.ked whether the women of the town did not touch their rings to
the ring that Joan wore on her finger, she answered: “Many women
?oucht;:d my hand and rings, but I don’t know with what thought or
intention.”

. J;Sked what members (.)f her party caught butterflies using her stan-
rd before Chateau-Thierry,* she said her party had never done
that—the other side had invented it.

Asked what she did at Reims with the gloves her king was wearing
when he was consecrated, she said that a gift of gloves was to be given
tc? the knights and nobles; one person there had lost his gloves, but she
did not say she would find them.® She said her standard w;s in the
churc_h at Reims; as she remembers, it was quite near the altar where
her king was consecrated, and she supported it there for a short while
She does not know whether Brother Richard held it '

'Asked whether, when she went through the cou;ltry she often re-
ceived the sacraments of Eucharist and penance when s}; i d
towns, she said yes, occasionally. s

Asked whether she took the sacraments in men’s atti
but she does not remember taking them in arms iy
i :sked why' she too'k the hackney—haguenée in French—of the

ishop of Senlis, she said that that palfrey was purchased f;
dred saluts.® She does not know whether or not he recei ofit:vho s
b}:t there was an arrangement, or he was paid. She wrotme P
b1sh0}3 to say that he could take back his hackn ifh s
she did not want it—it was worthless for carry:-lyg a l(?a‘;amed s
h ﬁfd howt;;)ld the boy was whom she restored to life at Lagny,® she
pegas was three days old. He was placed before the image of Bi ssed

ary in Lag_ny, and Joan was informed that the ey :ilg e
there at the image, and that she might wish to 0 and o
ﬂlt; Blessed Virgin to give life to the infant 'l‘gheilzn shzr:;Y t(: Gotiaid
other girls and ol s

gi prayed, when at last life appeared in the boy,

she said yes;

who
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yawned three times and then was baptized. And immediately he died
and was buried in consecrated ground. It was said that the boy had
shown no signs of life for three days, and he was as black as her cloak.
But when he yawned, his color began to return. Joan was with the
girls, praying on her knees before Our Lady.

Asked whether it was reported in that town that she had caused the
resurrection,® and that it happened because of her prayer, she said she
did not ask about this.

Asked whether she had known or seen Catherine de la Rochelle, she
said yes, at Jargeau and Montfaucon, in the duchy of Berry.®

Asked whether this Catherine had shown her a certain lady clothed
in white, who she said sometimes appears to her, she said no.

Asked what Catherine had said to her, she said that Catherine told
her that a certain white lady came to her, dressed in cloth of gold, and
told her to go through the good towns with heralds and trumpets the
king would give her, to proclaim that anyone having gold, silver, or
hidden treasure should bring it forward at once; and that she would
know those who had anything hidden and did not bring it forth, and
would be able to find it quite easily. And thus would she pay Joan’s
men-at-arms. At this, Joan told Catherine to go back to her husband
and do her housework—son mesnage in French—and take care of her
children. To know for certain about the claim of this Catherine, Joan
spoke to Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret, who told her that it
was all folly and there was nothing to it. She wrote to her king telling
him what to do about it;¥” and when she met him, she told him that it
was folly and that there was nothing whatsoever to the claim of this
Catherine. Yet Brother Richard wanted Catherine to be put to work, so
Brother Richard and Catherine were unhappy with Joan.

Asked whether she had spoken to Catherine about going to La
Charité-sur-Loire, she said that Catherine had not advised her to go,
and that it was too cold; she told Joan she would not go. Joan told
Catherine, who wanted to go to the duke of Burgundy to make peace,
that she believed that peace would be found only at the point of a
lance. She said she asked Catherine whether the white lady who ap-
peared to her came every night; in order to see her [the white lady],
she said, she wanted to sleep in the same bed with her. And Joan lay
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down and “fatched until midnight, and saw nothing; then she slept.
When morning came, she asked Catherine whether the white lady had
come to her. She said yes, while Joan was sleeping, but she could not
wak.e her.‘ Then Joan asked her whether the lady would come the fol-
lowing night, 'Txnd Catherine said yes. So Joan slept that day, to stay
awake ‘the entire next night. And that night she went to bed with
Catherine, and watched all night. But she saw nothing, though she
often asked Catherine whether the lady would come or not, and
Catherine replied: “Yes, any minute.” ,
.Then Joan, asked what she had done in the trenches at La Charité,
said that she ordered an assault there, but that she did not sprinkle
holy water, or order any to be sprinkled.
: Askeddw:)]; she did not enter La Charité, when she had been so
omm 8
. ér;d;:” Yy God, she answered: “Who told you I was commanded
8 A;ked \:vhether she had had counsel from her voice, she said that
she ad wished to come to France, but the men-at-arms told her that
it would be better to go first to La Charité_
dAsl;ed whether she had been long in the tower of Beaurevoir, she
:1 Es e spent four mcrnths or so there and that when she learned that
ffe r;ghsh were coming to seize her, she was furious. Yet the voices
:h n forbade her to leap from the tower. At last, fearing the English,
w; lea:lpzd :n&d colr:m}'ll:nded herself to God and Blessed Mary, and was
unded. After she had leaped, the voice of Saint C i
) atherine told her
:i)db; l(:f go_(:ld cheer, and that the people of Compiegne would lend her
. She sai fm-ther that she always prayed to her counsel for the peo-
ple of Compiegne. a5t
} Al:ked ‘Trhat she said after she leaped, she answered that some peo-
ple had said she was dead. And as soon as the Burgundian h
she was alive, they told her that she had leaped STy
Asked whether, at that point, she saj '

; ) ) said that she would rather di
thal::l fall into the ‘hands of the English, she said she had stated that shz
would rather deliver her soul to God than fall into th
Eoglish 0 the hands of the

Asked whether she was angry then and blasphemed the name of
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God, she said she never cursed the saints and had never had the habit
of swearing.

Asked about Soissons and the captain who had surrendered the
town, whether she had denied God when she said that if she had got-
ten hold of the captain, she would have ordered him to be drawn and
quartered, she said she had never denied the saints, and those who said
or reported that she did had misunderstood.”

With these matters concluded, Joan was led back to her prison cell.
Then we the bishop stated that in continuing the trial without inter-
ruption, we would call certain doctors and experts in canon and civil
law, who would gather from the things that Joan had confessed what-
ever should be gathered from her responses, which had been put into
writing. And after these had been examined and gathered, if there re-
mained certain statements of Joan that called for further questioning,
she would be interrogated by individuals of our choosing, without
troubling the entire body of assessors. And everything would be put
into writing, so that the doctors and lawyers might, whenever fitting,
deliberate and give their opinions and offer counsel. And we told them
that they might study and privately consider the case and what they
had heard at the trial, and conclude what should be done, in their
opinion, and report back to us or our deputies; or they might keep
to themselves, in order to deliver their opinions at a suitable time
and place after more thoughtful and careful deliberation. We forbade,
moreover, each and every assessor to leave Rouen without our permis-
sion before the close of the trial.

Sunday, March 4. End of the public sessions for this first time. Sunday,
March 4, immediately following, and the very next Monday, Tuesday,
Wednesday, Thursday, and Friday.

We the bishop, with many solemn doctors, masters, and experts in
divine and canon law assembled at our house in Rouen, ordered all
Joan’s confessions at trial and her responses to be gathered up and
an extract to be made of those answers which were insufficient and
seemed to call for further questioning. After these were gathered and
carefully extracted, upon the advice and deliberation of these experts
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:\irrelc:ie;;izzl a;g Ifzr;ceed to further.intfarrogation of the said Joan. And
R o :1;: many obligations we could not always attend
s e i : assigned .the e.steemed and wise man Jean de la
i jud;daﬂ B of arts and licentiate of canon law, to interrogate
s Mamhyg inotl;.lr place; and we entrusted him with this task on
s Toznain e p;Ie'sence of (:‘.o.ctors and masters Jean Beaupére,
F & icolas Midi, Pierre Maurice, Thomas de
celles, Nicolas Loiselleur, and Guillaume Manchon.

Satu i d
s t:fay}h:f@ 10. First sessrofr in prison. On Saturday, March 10, imme-
Roue:; tgato e the bishop arrived at a room in the castle of
s Iean“:ias laSSlgned. to Joan as a prison cell. There, assisted by
teemed doctore " gontame, our appointed representative, with es-
Feuillet and ':han' masters of theology Nicolas Midi and Gérard
i MWI 1 Witnesses present—]Jean Secard, lawyer, and the rev-
assieu, priest—we requested Joa :
n to mak

oatélhto tell the truth about what she would be asked g

¢ answered: “I promise you to tell the truth about what concerns

your trial. The more vou fi
tell you.” you lorce me to swear, the longer I'll take to

Then Joan was questioned by Mast

i . er Jean de la Fontaine,
ad particularly chosen and designated for this task. Atxed:toan;k‘:g

her,
mmusi(;nwzl:t :.:ﬂé;:: pad taken, where she had come from the last
; ;
= piegne. She said she had come from Crépy-en-
Asked wheth

= madee; es:l sh: passef:l many days in Compiégne before she

e ly” she said she had come at a secret hour in th
g entered the town without her enemies’ knowledgl: sh:

thought. The evenin
g of the same
French—when she was captured = day, she made a sally—saillie in

As
ked whether the bells were rung when she attacked, she said that

if so, it was not by her command or with her knowledge did sh
, nor e

give any thought to this; she d
— 0¢s not even remember saying they

Asked whether she ordered the

she said that Easter week last, sally at the command of her voice,

while in the trenches of Melun, her
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voices—that is Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret—told her she
would be taken before the feast of Saint John, that it must be so, that
she should not be overwhelmed, but should take it in good part and
God would help her.”

Asked whether since Melun her voices had told her that she would
be captured, she said yes, quite often, nearly every day. She asked of
her voices that when she should be taken, she might die at once, with-
out the long distress of imprisonment. And the voices told her to take
it all in good part, that it must be so; but they did not tell her the hour.
Had she known the hour, she would not have gone. She often asked
her voices the hour of her capture, but they would not tell her.

Asked whether she would have gone if her voices had ordered her
to attack from Compiegne, and had signified that she would be taken
captive, she answered that had she known the hour of her capture, she
would not have gone willingly; nonetheless, she would have obeyed
the command of the voices, whatever should happen to her.

Asked whether, when she made the sally from Compiegne, she had
it from her voice or revelation that she should go and make the sally,
she said that on that day she did not know she would be captured, nor
had she any command to go forth; but she had always been told that
she must be taken prisoner.

Asked whether she crossed the bridge of Compitgne when she
made the sally, she said that she crossed the bridge and the boulevard,
and went with a company from her party against the people of my
lord Jean de Luxembourg. Twice she drove them back to the camp or
lodging of the Burgundians, reaching halfway the third time. Then the
English who were there cut Joan and her company off from the road.
And while Joan was retreating, she was captured in the fields on the
side nearest Picardy, near the boulevard. Between the place where she
was captured and Compiégne there was nothing but the river and the
boulevard with a trench.”

Asked whether the world and two angels, etc., were painted on the
banner she was carrying, she said yes, she never had but one.

Asked what this meant, to paint God holding the world, and two
angels, she said that Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret told her to
take the banner and bear it boldly, and to have the King of Heaven
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painted there. She told her king this, most unwillingly. She knows
nothing more about its meaning.

Asked whether she had a shield and arms, she said she never did,
but her king gave arms to her brothers, a shield of azure bearing two
golden lilies with a sword between.* And in this town [of Rouen], she
described these arms to a painter who had asked her what arms she
bore. She said her king gave them to her brothers <for their
pleasure>, without her asking and without revelation.

Asked whether she had a horse when she was captured, whether a
charger or a hackney, she said she was riding a horse, a demi-
charger—ung demi coursier in French. )

Asked who gave it to her, she said that her king or his people gave it
to her out of the king’s treasury. She had five chargers out of her king’s
treasury not counting the hacks, which numbered more than seven.

Asked whether she ever had other riches from her king besides the
horses, she said she asked nothing from her king but good arms, good
horses, and money to pay the people of her household. :

Asked whether s.he had a treasury, she said she had ten or twelve
thou§and écus, but it was not much for carrying on a war, rather it was
too little. Her brothers have it, she thinks. What she h ’ l
king’s own money. : it

Asked .what sign she gave her king when she came to him.* she said
one that is fair, honorable, most trustworthy and good " '
it good, the richest in

Asked Wl'.l}’ she has no desire to tell or reveal the sign, as she wished
to see the sign of Catherine de la Rochelle, she said tilat shems ujd
T’Ot have asked to know the sign of Catherine if it had been sh oy
unportant.churchmen as much as Joan’s sign had been—t. 5 :h‘? h
ops and bishops, such as the archbishop of Reims and tﬁar .
names she does not know, as well as Charles of B i
Trémoille, the duke of Alencon,

she says, is her

8 iakiy Gl ourbon, my lord of
o ;

heard the sign as clearly as Joan sees Peogle er 'k;?:tz who saw and
mgdbt?fore her today.* And yet she already knew from Sgtaggt:: 31‘_ld-
and Saint Margaret that the claim of Catheri erine
ter nonsense. erine de la Rochelle was ut-

Asked whether the sign still exists, she said that jt is a good thin
g to
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know; it will endure a thousand years and beyond. She says the sign is
in her king’s treasury.

Asked whether it is gold, silver, a precious stone, or a crown, she an-
swered: “I won't tell you anything else. No one could describe a thing
as precious as this sign. All the same, the sign you need is that God will
deliver me from your hands, and it is the most certain one he could
send you.” She says that when she was to leave to go see her king, her
voices told her: “Go boldly! When you stand before the king, he will
have a good sign to receive and believe in you.”

Asked what reverence she made the sign when it came to her king,
and whether it came from God, she said she thanked God for deliver-
ing her from the hostility of clerks in her own party who opposed her;
she genuflected many times. She says that an angel of God and no
other gave her king a sign, and she gave thanks to God for it many
times. The clerks stopped opposing her when they received the sign.

Asked whether the churchmen of her party had seen the sign, she
said that when her king and those with him saw the sign and the very
angel who gave it, she asked her king whether he was satisfied, and he
said yes. Then she left and went to a chapel close by. And after she left,
she heard that more than three hundred people saw the sign. She
added that for love of her, and so that people might stop questioning
her, God wanted to allow those members of her party who did in fact
see the sign to witness it.

Asked whether she and her king paid reverence to the angel when he
brought the sign, she said she did, and she knelt and bared her head.

Monday, March 12. Second session. The following Monday, March 12,
there appeared in our dwelling at Rouen the religious and wise man
Brother Jean Le Maistre, of the Order of Friars Preachers, vice-inquisi-
tor of heresy in the kingdom of France, in the presence of esteemed
and wise men: the reverend masters Thomas Fiefvet and Pasquier de
Vaux, doctors of canon law; Nicolas de Hubent, apostolic secretary;
and Brother Ysambard de la Pierre, of the Order of Friars Preachers.
We the bishop explained to the vice-inquisitor that at the beginning
of the trial that we had begun in a matter of faith against a certain
woman Joan, commonly called the Maid, we had summoned him and
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asked him to participate,

and we offered to share with him the acts,
documents,

and everything else pertaining to the matter and trial. But
the vice-inquisitor then raised a difficulty concerning his participation
in the trial, because he had been appointed only for the city and dio-
cese of Rouen; now the trial had fallen to us by virtue of our jurisdic-
tion of Beauvais, in borrowed territory. Therefore, to settle the matter

fmore surely, and taking all precautions, we had decided to write to the
reverend inquisitor and ask him to co

vicar especially for this case,
conclude the trial on his beh
ter the reverend inquisitor h,
to our request, for the hono
cially appointed and delega

me to Rouen or to appoint a
with complete authority to conduct and
alf, as reported in greater detail above. Af-
ad received our letter, he kindly consented
r and exaltation of the true faith, and espe-
ted Brother Jean Le Maistre to conduct and
conclude this case, by his letters Patent secured and authenticated by
his seal, whose contents follow below. We therefore summoned and re-
quested Brother Jean Le Maistre to join himself to this trial, according
to his commission, He replied that he would gladly see the commis-
sion addressed to him, the tria] record signed by the notaries, and
other documents that we would share with him. After he had seen and
examined them, he would reply and do his duty on behalf of holy in-
qQuisition. And we told him that he had already been present for much

onses; and we were satis-
uld gladly share with him the trjq] record and all that had
been done in the matter, for his study and €Xamination,

Here follows the letter of commission sent by th

: e reverend inquisi-
tor, mentioned above,

Letter of Jean Graverent Appointing jean Le Maistre
Vice-Inquisitor for the Trial

The same Monday. The same Mon

day in the mq
entered the room assigned to Joa

ming, we the bishop
n as her prison

in the Castle of Rouen,
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. : rend mas-
where esteemed and wise men gathered with o t l}fi;(i:s Midi and
ters Jean de la Fontaine, our chosen representau"?l’\()mas Fiefvet and
; witnesses .
illet, doctors of theology; wi _ £ apostolic
I?ér: ri:;: V:ux doctors of canon law; and Nicolas Hubent, ap
asqui ]
bout the
Sec;ﬂ:}rlz.ir presence, we asked Joan to swear to e ﬂlelt;rzltahd;? tell the
thinns she was to be asked. She replied that shedwolild st
trutl% “about what touches your trial,” as she had sa
i he swore. de la
5101';; Andbso Z u‘; order. she was first asked by Maste:i }ea:s .
n, o i a )
Fontaiene wl};ether the angel who had.brought :11 (Lrektl:lﬁ thegl?ing to put
tioned above, had not spoken. She said Yes-, 2 be relieved.
Joan to work, and the country would st}:alglilta‘;’c: to her king was the
] brOl-lg t the s - d
hether the angel that e >, she sai
Ml:;:t‘:lail first appeared to her <or if it “]rler; another
same r fails her.

; the same, and he never : her
e onl? ant?ne angel did not in fact fail her wl_th respe;t (;2 o
Ajlfedehl:t e:he was captured, she said that since it please >

g0ood luck when
to be captured. : ; f grace,
was better f;,)rthhf:: t;)le angel had not failed her in the bles:.:;g:azhgday?”
ot df' “How could he fail me when he comforts o il
SS:C ans.\;eret -nds as she says, that this comfort come
€ undersia >
. int Margaret. : int Margaret,
ey alr: dt::ru_:,he cal?s out to Saint Catherine arllld Sz;zttheY i 434
Asked wi '; come without being summoned: she ?f g
. Whetl'l:}?lr tegeing summoned. On other occasions, if they
come withou em.
come, she would at once ask God to send th

: hen she sum-
etim ints did not come W
o Whet?her 50'12 thatesnet\lrl;r s:id she have need of them and not
e sai

moned them,
have them. ;
Asked whether Saint D

e know}f.th r she spoke to God when she promised him to eep
Asked whethe

to make this promise
: . it ought to be enough _
her virginity, she smGdodtht:;deg:amt Catherine and Saint M?rgare:c_
- th(;cs:ds:vnltl f:(::rsmded her to summon a man from Toul in an

As a

i far
enis ever appeared to her, she said no, as
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tion for marriage,” she answered: “I didn’t have him summoned; he
had me summoned. I swore there before the judge to tell the truth,
and finally she said that she had made him no promise. She says fur-
tl:ler that the first time she heard her voice, she took a vow to keep her
virginity, so long as it pleased God; she was around thirteen years old.
She says her voices assured her of winning her case in Toul.

Asked whether she ever spoke to her priest or to any other clergy-
man about the visions she says she has, she said no, only to Robert de
Baudricourt and to her king. She says further that her voices did not
compel her to keep this secret; but she dreaded to reveal them for fear
of the Burgundians, that they would hinder her journey. She especially
feared her father, that he would keep her from making her journey.

Asked whether she believes she did well in leaving without her fa-
ther and mother’s permission, since she should honor her father and
mother,” she said that she obeyed her father and mother very well in
all other matters, except for that journey; later, she wrote to them
about this, and they forgave her.

Asked whether she thought she was sinning when she left her father
and mother, she said that since God had commanded her, it had to be
:onz. She says further that since God commanded her, ’had she one
; ;enw::ejl ;‘a}:l;j;sl :fr:.d mothers, and were she the king’s daughter, still

Questioned whether she had asked her voices if she should tell her
father and mother of her leaving,* she said that with regard to her fa-
ther and mother, the voices would have been well pleased that sh
should tell them, were it not for the trouble they would h = ;
had she done so. For herself, she would not have told theri::r ‘;oia:;;

thing. She says the voices let her decide wh
eth
mother ofth of e dcmad tL er to tell her father and

Asked whether she made reverence to Saj i
int Michael
when she saw them, she said yes, and she kissed theand th“-;ﬂ tiels
passed over after they left. ey
Asked whether the angels stayed long with her,

come unseen among Christians. She often sees
tians.

Asked whether she had received letters from Saint Mi 3
Michael or from

she said they often
them among Chris-
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her voices, she answered: “I do not have leave to speak to you of this.
Within eight days I will gladly tell you what I know.”

Asked whether her voices had ever called her daughter of God,
daughter of the Church, daughter great-hearted, she said that before
the lifting of the siege of Orléans and every day since, when they spoke
to her they frequently called her Joan the Maid, daughter of God.

Asked why, though she calls herself daughter of God, she does not
willingly say the Our Father, she said she would gladly say it. Formerly,
when she refused, she did so intending that we the bishop should hear
her in confession.

The same Monday afternoon. The same Monday in the afternoon, there
appeared in Joan’s prison reverend masters: Jean de la Fontaine, our
chosen representative; Nicolas Midi and Gérard Feuillet, doctors of
theology; Thomas Fiefvet and Pasquier de Vaux, doctors of canon law;
and Nicolas Hubent, apostolic secretary.

Joan was interrogated by the said La Fontaine by our command,
first concerning the dreams her father reportedly had about her before
she left his house. She replied that when she was still in her father
and mother’s house, her mother often told her that her father spoke
of having dreamed that Joan, his daughter, would leave with men-at-
arms. From that time, her father and mither took great care to guard
her, and kept her in great subjection. She obeyed them in all matters,
except for the trial at Toul in the cause of marriage. She says she heard
her mother say that her father told her brothers: “Truly, if I believed
what I fear for my daughter would happen, I should wish you to
drown her; and if you would not, I would drown her myself” Her
mother and father nearly lost their senses when she left for
Vaucouleurs.

Asked whether these thoughts or dreams came to her father after
she had had her visions, she said yes, more than two years after she
had first heard the voices.

Asked whether it was at the request of Robert de Baudricourt or at
her own prompting that she took men’s clothes, she said it was of her
own will, and not at the request of any living person.

Asked whether the voice instructed her to take men’s garb, she an-
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Zw;r:led. _Everythmg good tha't I have done has been at the instruction
y vmces..As for my clothing, I will answer at another time; I have
not been advised at present, but will answer this tomorrow.” ’
A,sked whetherl she did not think she was doing wron-g in taking
rr;:ns ga:;), she s_a1d no. Even now, if she were still with her own peo-
51 and dressed in men’s clothing, it seems to her that it would be for
e AirE:; iood of France to do as she did before her capture.
e haveo;}:il: would have f.reed the duke of Orléans, she said she
Rt enl:)ugh E.ng!ish prisoners to ransom him. And had
T no:g on this side [of the sea], she would have crossed
ASk;d . ﬂw;:e S@ from England by force.
s un:r ;;n.t Catherine and Saint Margaret had told her ab-
iy uk:r;f go;mlly t_.hat she would take enough prisoners to
R M rléans m.England, or that she would cross the
SO ho rescue him, she said yes, and she had told her
i p,-is,oners . e \twhould let her deal with the English lords who
s .Thiven ree years without obstacles, she would have
one; but she dc;:es nir::niet;stl:eff[:zs tt.lha }rll thrie S
‘ ctly how long].
Asked what the sign was that she gav); her king%]she said she would

take counsel with Saint Catherine about this.
L

Tuesday, March
ay, March 13. On Tuesday, March 13, immediately following, we

e b . :
e bishop arrived at the prison. And there, at the same hour, appeared

the esteemed and wise
man B .
esteemed and wise men, rother Jean Le Maistre, accompanied by

e [::::j]] re\ierend ma.sters Jean de la Fontaine,
e et; and as witnesses Nicolas de Hubent

st Mle_ , of th.:: Order of Friars Preachers.
S inals_ , hmg now seen the letter addressed to
e qulsltox: with the other documents for consider-
us in the trial, ready to Proceed to a decision in the

case, according to law and reason. We kindly explained this to J
s to Joan

herself, urging and advising her for her soul’s o i
e tru

in the trial about all thin
. gs she would be asked :
tor, wishing to proceed further in the case a- Then the vice-inquisi-

Jean d’Estivet, canon of the ch pointed the reverend
> urches of Bayeux and =
Beauvais, as
pro-
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moter of the holy inquisition; the nobleman John Grey, squire of the
body of our lord the king, and Jean Berwoit as jailers; and the reverend
Jean Massieu, priest, as executor of citations and summons. We the
bishop appointed and ordained all of these to their offices, as related
more fully in the bishop’s letters above and in the vice-inquisitor’s let-
ters below, confirmed by our seals. All of these officers took an oath to
the vice-inquisitor to exercise their offices faithfully.

Here follows the letter of appointment of the promoter by the vice-

inquisitor.

Letter of Jean Le Maistre Appointing Jean d’Estivet
Promoter for the Inquisition

Summary. Jean Le Maistre appoints Jean d’Estivet as promoter on behalf of the in-
quisition. Dated March 13, 1431, Rouen. Signed “Boisguillaume, Manchon.”

Here follows the letter whereby the vice-inquisitor appointed the
reverend Jean Massieu priest, executor of summons and citations in

this trial.

Letter of Jean Le Maistre Appointing Jean Massieu
Executor for the Inquisition

Summary. Jean Le Maistre appoints Jean Massieu executor. Dated March 13, 1431,
Rouen. Signed: “Boisguillaume, Manchon.”

When this was concluded, we the bishop and Brother Jean Le
Maistre, vice-inquisitor, proceeded to examine Joan as above.

First, at our command, Joan was asked what the sign was that she
gave her king. She answered: “Do you want me to perjure myself?”

Asked <by my lord the vice-inquisitor> whether she had sworn
and promised Saint Catherine not to speak of that sign, she answered:
“] have sworn and promised not to speak of the sign of my own ac-
cord, since people troubled me so much to speak of it” And then she
promised to speak no further of this to anyone. She says the sign was
that an angel, in bringing her king a crown, assured him that he would
have the kingdom of France whole and entire with the help of God
and the labors of Joan herself. He should put Joan to work, that is give
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her men-at-

s at-arms, or he would not so soon be. crowned and conse-

it Asl;ed wfhether she had spoken with Saint Catherine since yester-

: Y, § :e said she had heard her since then; and still she told her many

imes to answer the judges boldly ab

o g y about what they would ask her

WhA;l:cdhhow the‘ angel bore the crown mentioned earlier, and
ether he placed it on the head of her king, she said that the crown

wt;:;éwlen to an a‘rchblshop, namely the archbishop of Reims, she

tolher’ lglnher k;n}gs presence. And the archbishop took it and gave it

» 4l
s treafmy_ oan herself was there. The crown was put into her

Asked where the crown was b
: rought, i ing’
in the castle of Chinon. ey g e
the{:akﬁd 01; what day artd at what hour, she said she knows nothing of
- Ity, as lor the }llour, it was late, but otherwise she does not remem-
Apl.-ﬂ 0::;: in April or March, she thinks. And she said: “From next
€ present m it i
s onth of March, it is two years ago, and it was af-

Asked whether, on : i
o ‘i: ;s, st e L tl?ijndsz{fsii :;‘:dﬂ'ilz sign, her king also saw it, she
i ::a\;:a:fme crown was made of, she said it is good to know that
£ s e ofprs g The o s 0 of i
fied that her king would hold th(::nl:i:;;:)izr:; “es il
Asked whether it had precious stones Sty
what I know of this.” #
Asked whether she held or kissed the crown, she said
hjgﬁs::t;r :hettl?er the angel that brought the crown c:n?l.e fr
m the earth, <she answered: “He came fr : o,l,n .
she understood that he came by the W, On; on high.” And
:::l:ed t{l;e room by the door. Asked whether the ‘:::ggl ;3:“' L;Ld» o
and entered the room by the door,>10 she said thme o
angel came before her king, he bowed before him ba:nd- at when the
il:‘;ml?ncmg the words about the sign that ]oa;; me ]:;g el
with that, the angel recalled to the king the sweet ;an'(:rlxi: ;b;:vz
e ha

she answered: “I've told you
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shown through the great trials that had afflicted him. From the door,
the angel walked upon the ground and came toward her king.

Asked how far it was from the door to her king, she said she be-
lieves the length of a lance; the angel went out as he had come in.
When the angel came, she accompanied him by the stairs to her king’s
chamber. The angel entered first, then Joan; and Joan said to her king:
“Sire, here is your sign; take it.”

Asked where the angel appeared to Joan, she answered: “I was al-
most always praying that God would send the king’s sign, and I was in
my lodging in the house of a good woman near the town of Chinon
when the angel came; afterward, he and I went to the king together.
This angel was well attended by other angels, which no one saw.” She
said further that were it not for love of her and to remove her from the
trouble caused by her opponents, she truly believes, the angel would
not have made himself visible to many who saw him.

Asked whether all who were there with her king saw the angel, she
said she believes the archbishop of Reims and the lords d’Alencon, de
la Trémoille, and Charles of Bourbon saw him. As for the crown, many
clergymen and others saw it who did not see the angel.

Asked about the appearance and size of the angel, she said she has
no leave to speak of this and would answer tomorrow.

Asked whether all the angels who attended the angel had the same
appearance, she said that some were very like each other, and others
not, in the way that she saw them; some had wings and some were
crowned <and others not>.1%2 In that company were Saint Catherine
and Saint Margaret, together with the angel and other angels, who
filed right into her king’s chamber.

Asked how the angel left her, she said he left her in a certain small
chapel. She was very angry at his departure; she cried and would
gladly have gone with him—that is, her soul would have gone.

Asked whether she remained joyful <or frightened and in great
fear>1 after the angel’s departure, she said he did not leave her in

fear or trembling, but she was angry at his leaving.

Asked whether it was for any merit of Joan herself that God sent
her his angel, she said that the angel came for a great purpose, in the
hope that her king would believe the sign and people would cease op-
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posing Joan, anfd to help the good people of Orléans, as well as for the

merits of her king and the good duke of Orléans.

thazt&r?icetil whz gn.; happened to her instead of someone else, she said

it pleased God to do this through a si i i

e | ugh a simple maid, to drive back the
Askedhwhe.ther shf-: had been told whence the angel had taken the

:::;n, ;de said that it was brought by God, and that no goldsmith in

wheng: th:ould ixave l:nt;de one so rich and fair. But as to the question

angel took the crown,

e Joan trusts to God and knows noth-
As

shonekesi wh_zther the crown had a pleasing scent, and whether it

- td e sai she do?s not remember and will seek counsel. But then
e said it had a pleasing scent, and will have as long as it is well kept

as is seemly. It was in the shape of a crown. |
21;:3 w:ethe:r the ang.el had written her letters, she said no.

- er;l :iv at sign her king had and those with him and she herself,

o lliawedaiteb}tfl::hm thagzl an angel brought the crown, she said her king

e guidance i
el s or teaching of the clergy present, and by

Asked how the clergymen knew i

I % 1t was :

it from their learning, and because they wilrleacrif:llc,:he R
Asked about a priest with a concubine and about a lost cup that she

was said to have revealed, she said
¢ Sh .
ters, nor has she ever heard of them ;;E:SLDOthmg B S

Asked whether, when she went to Paris

th i :
bl:::":;:)at‘::ll t(:fi her voices, she said no, she went at the request of no-
or an assault-at-a;:mm;ii full an assault, une escarmouche in French,
trenches of Paris. y intended to go farther and to cross the
Asked whether she had a revelati
: ; elation about goj
Cl‘uanté, she said no, she went at the request ofg:lmg to the town of La
plied before. €n-at-arms, as she re-
Asked whether she had a :
> : revelation :
Lf\;équ:l;'“ she said no, after she had a revel:I:i(::: atg (t)}l:egtrzochpom-
elun that she would be captured, she turned over most of Itlhe e
con-

she did so on account of
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duct of war to the captains; yet she did not tell them of her revelation,
that she would be captured.

Asked whether it was right to attack Paris on the Nativity of Blessed
Mary, ' a feast day, she said that it is good to keep the feasts of Blessed
Mary; it seems good to her in her conscience to keep the feasts of
Blessed Mary from beginning to end.

Asked whether she had not said before Paris: “Surrender this town
to Jesus!™”” she said no, she had said: “Surrender it to the king of
France.”

Wednesday, March 14. The following Wednesday, March 14, we, Brother
Jean Le Maistre, vicar of the lord inquisitor, trusting to the diligence
and integrity of that esteemed and wise man the reverend Nicolas
Taquel, priest of the diocese of Rouen sworn in as imperial notary
public and notary at the archiepiscopal court of Rouen, and having
full trust in the Lord, have retained, chosen, and named the said
Nicolas notary and secretary for this trial, as shown more fully in our
letters patent transcribed below, sealed with our seal and bearing the
manual signs of the notaries public. And the next day, in Joan’s prison
where we had appeared, the reverend Nicolas took an oath before us
to faithfully exercise his office as we had requested him, in the pres-
ence of Masters Jean de la Fontaine, Nicolas Midi, Gérard Feuillet,
Guillaume Manchon, and many others.
Here follows the letter retaining the notary.

Letter of Jean Le Maistre Appointing Nicolas Taquel
Notary for the Inquisition

Summary. Jean Le Maistre appoints Nicolas Taquel notary. Dated March 14, 1431,
Rouen. Signed: “Boisguillaume, G. Manchon.”

The same day. Master Jean de la Fontaine, deputy appointed by us the
bishop, and we, Brother Jean Le Maistre, presiding in Joan’s prison in
the castle of Rouen. Joan was examined before esteemed and wise
men, the reverend masters Nicolas Midi and Gérard Feuillet, doctors

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 14

99

e B T . r e -




il o i e Y

of theology, along with Nicolas de Hubent, apostolic secretary, and
Brother Ysambard de |, Pierre, witnesses.
First she was asked why she leaped from the tower of Beaurevoir.
She replied that she had heard it said that everyone in Compiegne
above the age of seven Was to be put to fire and sword, and she would
rather die than live after such a destruction of good people. This was
One reason she leaped. The other was that she knew she had been sold

of her enemies the English.

Asked whether she leaped by the counsel of her voices, she said that
Saint Catherine told her almost every day not to jump and God would
help her and the people of Compiggne. And Joan told Saint Catherine

answered: “Truly, I dop’
English hands”

$0 horribly?” she replied that she had
spoken to them thus: “How can G
Compiggne die who have been and are

not said “so horribly,” but had
od let these good people of
so loyal to their lord?”

g her leap from the tower, she had no desire
to eat for two or three days, and she was so injured from the fall that
she could not eat or drink. Yet she was comforted by Saint Catherine,

who told her to confess and ask forgiveness from God for leaping, and
without fail the People of Co
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i he
denying or cursing God and the saints, then or anYhOt:z; t;x:l(:l;)s
does not admit this; she does not remember w.l;at s eShe nks o

Asked whether she wished to refer to the evi : enie,
trust to God and no other, and to good confessmn.fo ek
Asked whether her voices ask her for a dela);sbe dr YR
said that sometimes Saint Catherine ans?ver.s,' an .so ST
fails to understand her because o}t; the r}iols; 1;-11( z?eapr::gzest o
. And when she
gjatfhet;riir: tl}'::lr'l Sg;:idéatherine and Saint Margaret‘ make éhed ;eg:;:f
toaGod, ar’nd then they give Joan the answer, according to Go
mandl.q:d hether, when the saints come, a light co.me.s with thetrln, 11"::
hAsh ‘l: l?saw ;he light when she heard t}%e voice in th»:::l cas e;s 5
:n 5 'er Swflether it was in her room, she said that not a . ;y g;)li .
th‘:fhgey do not come to the castle, nor do theybu:olzlji-1 :;:e rm:he ia o
As to the time in question, she does not r?mergh :l;a i
the light, or whether she saw Saint Catheru:le. : ynmher seoe
i from her voices: one was her deliverance; ‘f e
s thmgsh ? the French and protect the towns subject to t erln, 7
gl(')(?:l‘f:al:l:eresgul’s salvation. She asks that if she is :;ke;n }t:; I:::;;:, gsive
. i , S0 that s
Pl st g e e 7 56 gl
;{h; n;ntoalf; (zgyea:swers”; and that she may not be troubled again wi
uen,
3 rzgys?r:t:?t;ﬁ:iajd that we the bishop were putt'ing lt:;rs;l:;;l
jer i ch—for putting s,
o dangerd_enhg:a&zsdgfa;,ll:znwas the peril or dangezl 1:;::
she‘ was aske ‘Ta:ing ourselves, we and the other:'s. She answef: fre
s ‘Tflrc IJthe bishop: “You say you're my judge; I dor;ul B
o but take good care not to judge me wrong ﬂ?lr,at :
Whethetj; g :tre'ourself in grave danger. 'm warning Zou )
e Yu I’ll have done my duty in telling you. renrp
paph v )::?1 , eril or danger is, she said that Saint C:?thenne oh
e Whath eephelp"'” she does not know whether t}‘us means ds i:
e S:e f‘:o l:ildfroj; priso;l or whether while she is on trial, some dis
will be free s
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turbance will happen to free her;

other. For the most part the voices have told her that she will be freed

she supposes it will be one or the

by a great victory. Later,
have no thought for you
kingdom of heaven” Th

the voices say to her: “Take it all in good part;
I martyrdom; at the last, you will come to the
e voices told her this simply and clearly, with-
“martyrdom” because of the pain and trials she
oes not know if she will suffer greater pain, but

Asked whether, since her
come to heaven,
will not be damp,

voices told her that in the end she will
she believes herself assured of salvation and that she
ed in hell, she said she firmly believes what the voices
amely, that she wil] be saved—as firmly as if she were

The same Wednesday afternoon, The same Wednesday afternoon, there
appeared in the same place

esteemed and wise men, reverend masters:
]ea:l1 de la.For_ltalne, appointed by us the bishop, and by us, Jean Le
Maistre, Vice-inquisitor; assisting with us Nicolas Midi and Gérard

Feuillet, doctors of theology; and Brother Ysambard de la Pierre and
Jean Manchon, Wwitnesses,

ded Promise she made to God to
keep her virginity in both body and souy],

Asked whether she need confess, since she has
voices that she will be saved, she saj
sinned mortally, but if she ; i ; i
Catherine and Saint Margaret would abandon here g
swer to the question, she bel;
science too much.
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ison, she said no, and sometimes when she says in Frenf:.k;edGl'ﬁ:ll'
ari;;ionng’” or “Saint John,” or “Our Lady,” those who have rep
wofsi(:;‘:h‘::;:?ie;: ;O;Ci)?tlsﬁn:i-n to take someone for r;‘nsom and to
put him to death as a prisoner, she sau;l ns:;z :;g 1'::; :1-?1 tshl:lhad o
ince Franquet d’Arras was m 5 ; e
dea?l?‘its Lagny,'"! (ihc shid b ke SR htlljir.:,ifeztl?d a traitor.
served it, for he confessed that he was a murderf:r, a . b; e
She said ,his trial lasted two weeks, and he wa; Jl-;ig:s ke}d’ i Babdie
Senlis and the magistrates of Lagny. She sai sf e s
N S R A YR bailiff told
:}}:’SB r::l lc‘l;u And when she heard he was dead, ant'i Wl-len[:hefr;ing this
het: L:xat. she would be doing a great injury to ]uittl*;: dgad, deal with
Franquet, she told the bailiff: “Since the man I wa
this one as jus;;ilce :;tiui:::noney or had money given to the one w:;
api:zl::j :EI: Fr:lquetg she said she is not the mintmaster or treasu
C ’
g h-’mfi ?;’lt n-ll::rl?l,;at she had attacked Paris on a feas’;l d?]y‘,
s it remmt}::?ord bishop of Senlis’s horse, t.hat she ?ac} ﬂu;esg
sy ttkaetnwer of Beaurevoir, that she is wearing mens lt:(e (:1 he;-
et Od to the death of Franquet d’Ar o . a-sd to the
engbrns 3811:“—"3 s she has committed a mortal sm.lst'ne sail s
whether she be le\f(; aris, that she does not believe Shle is in molrt 4
ﬁrst,‘the at‘ta"jk & 1} Gc:d to know it, and the priest in cc?nfessmn. =
and if she is, it 1sdj0r the horse, she said she firmly believes tha:1 Sn_
i SCCDI‘IC:L s tnéod in this, for the horse was valued at twot L];m
pespptes agamts: which the bishop had received an allotrn'er}x1 ; o
dred gold saluts, C{: e T b Tt betiini 4 6 blsh op ;
. l?orse o ause]ess to her for riding. And she was not ; e ?Jr;e
2porsens ‘h‘}rmmwﬁe bishop. She did not want it, she add;d, i:(gn-
s - d(t)hat the bishop was angry that his horse had e’en ]oa,;
she‘had hearh was useless to men-at-arms. In conclusmn; =
dee:o:h ;no::sewhether the bishop was p:li:ilmt:e a:lotmen >
iz = not.
whethe:L he has gi?::nthlzalc; ll)ns;r }:,?;setisutto?:r RN
Third, regar
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swered: “I did it not out of despair,
and to help the many good people
fession and asked the Lord for for

ness from the Lord, She believes it
She knows she was

but in the hope of saving my body
in need. After leaping, I took con-
giveness,” and she received forgive-
Wwas not good, but wrong, to do so.
forgiven after she took confession, by revelation

& it was by the advice of Saint Catherine that she
confessed.

Asked whether
bore a large part o

Asked whether
mortal sin, she saj
to God.

Fourth, regarding the men’s clothing, she answered: “Since I do this
by God’s command

and in his service, I don’t think I'm doing evil.
And the minute it pleases God to command it, I’ll remove these
clothes.”

she had to do heavy penance for this, she said she
f the penance in the injury she sustained in falling.

she believes that the wrong she did in leaping was a
d she knows nothing about it, and commits herself

Thursday, March 1s. The Thursday morning immediately following,
March 15, a¢ Joan’

$ prison. There presiding, Master Jean de la
Fontaine, appointeq by us the bishop, and by us, Brother Jean Le
Maistre, vice-inquisitor; assisted by esteemed men, the reverend mas-
ters Nicolas Midi ang Gérard Fe

: uillet, doctors of theology; and
Nicolas de Hubent, apostolic Secretary, and Brother Ysambard de la
Pierre, witnesses.

inst the Christian faith that God has
commanded, she would not wish to uphold j

vexed to find herself in oppositi o the would be -

The difference between th
militant was explained to her, wh
henceforth to submit herself to isi

on.
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: d: “I won’t
she has said and done, whether good or evil. She answere
& i es-
reply further a;g::s;t:i ke ke s?e g;;dl ]thhe
capl;hfinLoiﬁe castle at Beaulieu between twl-(l) silﬁssﬁe xc:ulci gladly
i e
i d never been a prisoner anyw. it i
i Sk::lh:'\fhr::n she was in that castle, she WOUldhha";Loand s
ha:'cf; ?;pmé tower had it not been for the it :dsto et ati
gu d her. She said regarding this incident that it seerri L et
s t G;)d’s will for her to escape, and that she must s
0 .
‘t;&: I?nglish as her voices told her, as récogc‘l;dh«’gz‘;m 5] S
hether she has leave from“ ’ o : e
hz:;l:frjr‘:h: wants, she answered: “I've asked for it many
w s »
: ermission. : g e il
03
i ' the door open she e 8 Sy
e t'ha:oi S.:i:la ::w firmly believes that if she saw th:ec;'::;rs?li g
Sy i nable to oppo >
it g is et . But she
54 gua.fds alltirtheemﬁssion, that God would send her hzltrt)ack——une
e at'S 0 wlzthout leave, unless she ““dert‘ml; a;lhe cactadrhe
e TloingPrenclfl—tt:o see whether God was pleased.
entreprise

“God helps those who help themselves.”"!* And she

French proverb e went without leave.

. one can say sh
says this so that if Sl:le escge}i;gorequested to hear Mass, whether she
She was asked, since s

’s clothing.
: P i
ink it would be more decen n’s clothing
does ILOt thm:s;cd which she would prefer: to wear wor::ass She an-
Aﬂd; 4 wh?[sass or stay in men’s clothing and Bot h: air wear women’s
and dCar“P n—;lse me that I'll get to hear Mass i
swered: “Pro

I'll answer you.” ] : e
do%fs’ at?::. interrogator told her: “I promise that you w
en

: s clothing.” , ; ki
if you wear wozgﬁs, d]c(f whft do you say if I've pron;lsed g}l;l 2 Ilrlli

She a:::zrt tf" remove these clothes? Nonethe'lessa,ndsg‘)re A
and swo be that touches the ground, with no train, i bics T
e 2 Then when I come back I'll put back on thes
for Mass.

ing” » i hear
wearing. omen’s clothing to go
. he would wear w
Asked again whether s
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1 “wyy
Isvll-,assé_:s ;he answered: “T’ll take counsel on this and answer you later.”
e further asked that for the honor of God and Blessed Mary she
might hear Mass in this good town.
forﬁ:]lld gle questioner told her to put on women’s clothing once and
daugh;er it tl:.:.h.e.aumw.p\rered: “Give me a garment befitting a citizen'’s
e ;t sl 1°“§ greatcoat—and I'll wear it <and a woman’s
i al‘;'oif:ede:: I};/Iass. She .?lsked further, with greatest urgency, that
e ear Mass in the clothes she was wearing, without
Asked .
iy thwzeﬂ-l'ﬂ: she would submit and refer all she has said and
deeds are = éﬂi:on of the Church, she answered: “All my words and
ke woulu(; n(?t ds hands, and I.wait on him in these things. I assure
i © or say anything against the Christian faith. If I had
anything, or if there were anything on my body that

clerks could say was agai
gainst the Christian fai :
would not uphold it but would reject it?’n S

Asked whether she would submit

s " : on this point to the decree of the
" e answered: “I won’t answer anything further now. B d
e clerk to me on Saturday, i

: ) if you don’t want to
W“;si:; s lllle.lﬂ;: I'll answer him, and it will be put i(;:)tl:z;:;rsil e
wi . ;
erence, as toz sz’n:vh;n he-r voices come, she does them absolgute rev-
s » she said yes; if sometimes she did not, she asked
erward. She does not know how to pay them the great

- she ﬂrml}’ believes they are Saint

Asked :
ed whether, since candles are commonly offered to saints in

saints who visit h.‘::,ﬂe ;ﬁm I:)':r;i:;ahcandles or other things to the
ere, or whether she has never

had masses said, she said no, except i i

g;l:s:;s rEand at Mass, in honor of SitinTCc;ftf;:lr?ﬁe[;lf:nbif] - th'e
e wo?_ﬂsz ‘:(l:ro S:;ilpear to ht:fr. She has not lit as r;‘lany can;}r:S she hls
she believes steadf: tlt Mg - S . paradi:eas She
e as }:' are the ones who come to her. s

Catherine, she df)r;s‘:oefn e r S e i o
: in honor of the one that appears toaﬁ:ro’shsamt
, she an-

THURSDAY, MARCH 15

106

S h{ 1 &

swered: “I do it in honor of God, Blessed Mary, and Saint Catherine in
heaven, and she who reveals herself to me.”

Asked whether she places these candles in honor of the Saint
Catherine who reveals herself or appears to her, she said yes, and she
sees no difference between the one who appears to her and the one
who is in heaven.

Asked whether she always does and carries out what her voices
command her, she said that with all her might she has fulfilled the
command of God revealed to her by her voices, what she can under-
stand of it. The voices instruct her to do nothing without God’s
blessing.

Asked whether she has done anything in battle without counsel
from her voices, she answered: “You have my answer to this. Read your
book very carefully and you'll find it.” Still, she said that at the request
of the men-at-arms, she had staged an armed attack on Paris, and on
La Charité at the request of her king. This was neither for nor against
the command of her voices.

Asked whether she had ever done anything against the will and
command of the voices, she said she did her best at whatever she could
do and knew how to do. As for the leap from the tower of Beaurevoir,
which she made against their command, she could not help herself.
When the voices saw her need, that she could not help it, they saved
her life and kept her from killing herself. No matter what she has done,
the voices have always helped her in her great enterprises; and this is a
sign they are good spirits.

Asked whether she has any other sign that the voices are good spir-
its, she said that Saint Michael assured her of it before the voices came.

Asked how she knew it was Saint Michael, she said by his speech
and by the angelic language; and she firmly believes they were angels.

Asked how she knew they were angels,"¢ she said she believed it al-
most right away, and desired to believe it. She said that when Saint Mi-
chael came, he told her that Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret would
visit her and that she should follow their counsel; they were appointed
to lead her and advise her in the tasks ahead, and she should believe
what they told her, for this was by God’s command.

Asked how, if the devil took the shape or appearance of a good an-
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| ;
ifl;:vhz wouldl klno.w 1twas a good or an evil angel, she said she would
The ﬁrs:rt}j;: ell if it was Saint Michael or a counterfeit in his likeness.
was very frigi;tzhe c}I.1 aghgraVe doubts that it was Saint Michael, and she
ned. : 3
Saint Michael. e saw him many times before she knew it was
Asked - :
o ti.:'le };‘;W she knew that it was Saint Michael then, rather than the
patsgtny apdpea'red to her, she said that the first time, she was just a
showgdgh » and frightened. After that, Saint Michael taught her and
Asked ef}:o much that she firmly believed it was he.
her to b:: > dg wi he taught her, she said that above all he told
b toﬁ;i child and God would help her. And among other
ho 0;_ g er she should go help the king of France. The greater
s e angel taught her is in this book;!!” and the angel re-
e i!h er t.he distress of the kingdom of France
e height and bearing of the angel, she said she would an-

swer this on Saturday, alo i
Slihei gl Y along with the other answers she has to give, if it

_Asked whether she does not bel
Sau.lt Catherine and Saint Margaret
their commands, she said yes,

leve it is a great sin to displease
. who visit her, and to act against
pleased them most by her leap ek e

g : at Beaurevoir, :
glv:r;;ssdfor this and for her other offensesoa:;ais:ht;:zlught S
bodilyiren:?:r:l::rfoiatl}l: tt C?ftherine and Saint Margaret would take

a .
not asked them. oftense, she said she does not know and has

Asked whether, si .
> Since she said on another occasion that one is

p 5
! ct;l;l;:lﬂ:lghthe truf:h,l she knows some crime or of-
r should die if she confessed it, she said no.

Saturday, March 17. Saturda
o . > % Y, March 17 1 edia
’s pri Immediate} : .
ll:ilsghlu:lt1 I‘;;r:lsbprlson, Master Jean de la Fontaine a;;i(;lilr(:;;nﬁ’ ot
teemefi’ # y us, Jean Le Maistre, vice-inquisitor. was acci y us the
and wise men, the reverend ik > = aabs:r;lste:iI t_;y fs-
- ve, Nicolas

Midi and Gérard Feuillet, do
: ] cto =
Pierre and Jean Massieu, *s of theology; and Ysambard de la

present. ;
oath, and she did. The said Joan was asked to take an
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Asked the form and shape, appearance and dress in which Saint
Michael came to her, she said he took the shape of a most righteous
man; she will say nothing more about his clothing and other matters.
As for the angels, she saw them with her own eyes, and nothing more
will be said about them. She says she believes the words and deeds of
Saint Michael who appeared to her, just as surely as she believes that
our Lord Jesus Christ suffered and died for us. What leads her to be-
lieve is the good counsel, comfort, and teaching he gave Joan.

Asked whether she will submit all her deeds to the judgment of
Holy Mother Church, for better or worse, she said that as for the
Church, she loves it and would support it with all her might for our
Christian faith; she is not the one who should be kept from going to
church or hearing Mass. As for her good works and her mission, she
must trust to the King of Heaven who sent her to Charles, son of
Charles, king of France, who was king of France.!” “And you'll see,”
she said, “that soon enough the French will win a great enterprise that
God will send them, and the whole kingdom of France will shake,”

branlera in French. She is saying this so that when it happens, people
will remember that she said it.

Asked to specify when, she answered: “In this I wait upon the
Lord”

Asked whether she would submit her deeds and words to the deci-
sion of the Church, she answered: “I submit to God, who sent me, to
Blessed Mary, and to all the saints of heaven. It seems to me that God
and the Church are one and the same, and there should be no dif-
ficulty. Why do you make this a difficulty?”

Then she was told that there is the Church triumphant, where dwell
God, the saints, the angels, and those souls already saved; there is also
the Church militant, in which are the pope, God’s vicar on earth, the
cardinals, the prelates of the Church, the clergy and all good catholic
Christians. When assembled, this Church cannot err and is governed
by the Holy Ghost. Therefore she was asked whether she would submit
to the Church militant, that which is on earth, as it had now been ex-
plained. She replied that she came to the king of France from God, the
Blessed Virgin Mary, and all the saints of heaven and the Church vic-
torious above, and at their command; and she submits all her good

SATURDAY, MARCH 17

109




Sl R Iy . -l

dv:eds and all t}llat she has done and will do to that Church. And as to
whether she will submit to the Church militant, she says she will not
answer at this time.
5 Aslcec:l what she has to say about the women’s clothes they offered
dert l:o that she could go hear Mass, she said that as to the women’s
g ob es, she wo_u.ld not take them until it pleased God. And if she must
Ctl: rought to judgment <and stripped>,'0 she asks the lords of the
h 1;rch to grant her the grace of a woman’s gown and a hood for her
ﬁ:;ﬂ .YSbh:;j v\rc:ul[-(l:l'1 rather die than deny what God gave her to do. She
elieves that God will not let her be b i
s e e brought so low but he will
> aﬁsdl’(zi whl)(r,s ts-ince she says she wears her clothing by God’s com-
€ asks for a woman’s gown in h 2
ST g er final hour, she answered: “It
FreAsiec‘i whet.her her glodmother who saw the fairies, les fées in
r}c » 1s considered a wise woman, she said that she is considered an
upright woman, not a fortune-teller or sorceress.
takx:sked wl:nether it was pleasing to God, her saying that she would
s w:romc:n s clot!nng if they let her go, she said that if they let her go
s an?gns ;lothmg, she would immediately put men’s clothes back
s (;) w aft the Lorc’i had commanded her. She said this at another
> and not for ar-lytlung would she take an oath not to arm herself
Or wear men’s clothing to do the Lord’s command
M;:Ske:t al;out the age 2nd garments of Saint Catherine and Saint
frOmgan; ) S ; answereflz You've already heard the answer you'll hear
©and you won't hear another. I've answered you as best I can”

Asked whether she believed bef; oda
: t sk , :
its, she said she knows nothing ab::: = y that fairies were evil spir-

Asked whether she knows whether Sa; :
garet hate the English, she answe er Saint Catherine and Saint Mar-

hate what God hates” ered: “They love what God loves and

Asked whether God hates the Engli
ish, she saj i
abou.t the l(?ve or hate that God hasgflor thse ;):;ll?sls;hz knzs no‘-h“'lg
do with their souls; but she knows for certain they V\;xll‘::e drii:rtt:}.lefrWlLl
n from

France, except those who sta i
y and die, :
French victory over the English. e o
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Asked whether God favored the English when they were prospering
in France, she said she does not know whether God hated the French;
but she believes he wanted them to be beaten for their sins, if they
were in sin.

Asked what promise and help she expected to receive from the Lord
for wearing men’s clothes, she said that for her clothing and her other
deeds, she expected nothing but the salvation of her soul.

Asked what arms she offered in the church of Saint-Denis in France,
she said she offered a complete suit of white armor, un blanc harnois in
French, suitable for a man-at-arms, with a sword she won at Paris.

Asked why she offered those arms, she said out of devotion, accord-
ing to the custom of soldiers when they are wounded. Since she was
wounded at Paris, she offered them to Saint Denis, because that is the

battle cry of France. ;
Asked whether she did it so that her arms might be worshipped, she

said no.

Asked the purpose of the five crosses that were on the sword fhe
found at Sainte-Catherine de Fierbois, she said she knows nothing
about it.

Asked what moved her to have angels painte
plete with arms, feet, legs, and garments, she answered:
have my answer to this.” :

Asked whether she had had the angels that visit her painted, she
said she had them painted the way they are painted in churches.

Asked whether she has ever seen them the way they were painted,
she answered: “I will tell you nothing else.”

Asked why she did not have the light painted that comes to her
with the angel or voices, she said that this was not commanded.

d on her banner, com-
“You already

The afternoon of the same day. The same Saturday in the afternoon, we
the bishop and vice-inquisitor, presiding, were assisted by esteen:led
and wise men: the reverend masters Jean Beaupere, Jacques de Touraine,
Nicolas Midi, Pierre Maurice, and Gérard Feuillet, doctors, and Thomas
de Courcelles, bachelor of theology; Jean de la Fontaine, licentiate of
canon law appointed by us the bishop—in the presence of Brother
Ysambard de la Pierre and of John Grey.
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tions and on how to proceed further. We have directed that these
opinions and letters of the university be copied here.

First there follows the letter of the university to our king.

Letter of the University of Paris to Henry VI

Summary. Notes that the king has begun a trial against Joan; mentions good
accounts of the trial from Jean Beaupére, Jacques de Touraine, and Nicolas Midi;
offers the university’s counsel on the articles through these masters; encourages him to
conclude the matter as soon as possible. Dated May 14, 1431, Paris. Signed: “Hébert.”

Here follows the letter of the University of Paris to us the bishop.

Letter of the University of Paris to Pierre Cauchon

Summary. Praises Cauchon for his diligence in prosecuting the case; notes that
Joan’s poison had infected nearly the entire Western world; mentions that Jean
Beaupere, Jacques de Touraine, and Nicolas Midi have provided a report of the pro-
cedures thus far; further commends Cauchon for his role and praises the form of the
trial; notes that all the requests of the masters have been granted: the university has
taken care to put its deliberations and conclusions into writing, which the masters

will show him, explaining other things in person, as well; promises further support
in prosecuting the case. Dated May 14, 1431, Paris. Signed: “Hébert.”

Here follow the deliberations of the University of Paris.

Reports of Deliberations at the University of Paris

Summary. Report of the University of Paris stating that on April 29, 1431, the uni-

vf:r.sr'ry having assembled at St. Bernard to deliberate on the twelve articles, the de-
cision was made to submit them to the faculties of theology and canon law for de-
liberation,

Summary. Report of the University of Paris stating that on May 14,

versity having assembled at St. Bernard to consider the deliberations
of theology and canon law on the twelve articles, the

1429, the uni-
of the faculties

of thees decision of each faculty, given
In writing, was presented and read,

Here follow the articles on the words and deeds of Joan, commonly
called the Maid.

Summary. The text of the twelve articles of April 5 is reproduced here.
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Here follow the deliberations and conclusions of the s:ai:::rl:;l ia:utlhtz
of theology of the University of Paris on the ab?dve ar
words and deeds of Joan, commonly called.tht'e Maid. oy
Summary. In its response to the twelve articles, which it subm;:smi = i ptearh
the pope and the general council, the fa.culry of theology con
and actions of Joan reported in each article.

i ination of the
Here follow the deliberations and do‘ctrm.al detem.unatut)}r’le i
esteemed faculty of canon law of the University of tl;:’al‘ls ;:mcommonly
twelve articles concerning the words and deeds of Joan,
alled G inati the twelve articles to
its 1 inal determination on 4
. The faculty submits its doctrina : il
f:e”;:;znd :h£ gertz;al council and concludes that if ;jm:, ui’;j“:r‘:; f::’f::e aith
i is schismatic, 2) she
in the twelve articles, 1) she is schis g il s
expr'esstefh:nart;le “One holy catholic Church,” 3) she s aPOS‘“:f for ‘-;‘; s:;ﬁ;ﬂf; e
- d reiecting women’s dress, 4) she is a liar and false prop e‘tess ith for en-
h: 49 :2;‘6‘05 and speaks with angels and saints, 5) she errs ;:u;he ;acl}hrist i
1 [
et e P
i ther than wear women’s dress, an ! e e
Ezftff::;:ns; will be taken to heavens if she does not abjure her error, she
m
abandoned to the secular judge. &
: these decisions, the rector confirmed that the decrsla;s;;::*
After the readlﬂga‘:{ iven; particular points were discussed; aﬁer. fuﬂhe; I:r 't o
fh(.Jse ea;h i‘t;cf?sizynt wef:: mt,l fed; Jean Beaupére, {agqugs de Touraine, and Nico
;;t;f:,; J:: d for notarized statements of these decisions.

Sioned: “Jean Bourillet and Michel Hébert, public notaries.
igned:

of the Doctors and Masters Then at Rouen

iberations :
= masters gave their opinions; most stated their support for
Summary. Forty-sever versity of Paris, that unless Joan abjured, she should be con-
the decision of the U’:ﬂd delivered to secular justice; some also recommended that
demned as a heretic

m 1 Id be concluded and the
g warrned one last ime; some said that the case cou ;

foe & :cad on :;Le same day; some deferred to the judges for subsequent
sentence pronou

Pmmdmthankjn the reverend fathers and masters, we concluded that
Af:;r uld be vfamed kindly to return to the path of truth and salva-
Joan sho
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tion of body and soul, and that according to their good and whole-

some counsel, we should proceed to the conclusion of the case. At last,
we set a day for sentencing.

Wednesday, May 23. The following Wednesday, May 23, Joan was led

before us, the judges, seated in judgment, in a room near her prison
in the castle of Rouen. Present there were reverend fathers: the bish-
ops of Thérouanne and of Noyon, masters Jean de Chatillon, arch.dea-
con of Evreux, Jean Beaupere, Nicolas Midi, Guillaume Erard, Pierre
Maurice, doctors of theology; André Marguerie, licentiate of laws;

Nicolas de Venderes, licentiate of canon law; and archdeacons and
canons of Rouen Cathedral.

In Joan’s presence,
had erred and transgre
theology and canon Ia
and errors she commi
we advised her to ab
her ways, and to sub
Mother Church, as d
was explained to her

we had certain points explained whereinlloan
ssed according to deliberation of the facuItTES of
w of the University of Paris. The faults, crimes,
tted in each case were also explained to her. And
andon these transgressions and errors, to mend
mit to the correction and decision of our H.OIY
etailed more fully in the schedule below, which

in French by master Pierre Maurice, canon of
Rouen Cathedral and

renowned doctor of theology.
Here follows the tenor of the schedule:

1. First of all, Joan, you said that from th
tions and visions of angels and Saint Cath,
have seen th

still do often speak and have told you many things that are explained more fully in
your trial record.

Now, on this point, the clerks of the University of Paris and others have consid-

e age of around thirteen you had revela-
erine and Saint Margaret, and that you

ng into account, they have said
misleading, and harmfy] stories; or that these revela-
tions are Superstitious, and they proceed
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i id that when
e the crown. One time y?u sai e
N iy t.mwed the‘ 3: g;Iet:zts ]:(I];ne: another time yo.u S:“:, ;I;a; ::;e(i 5
st 'ece“’e"‘the S‘i .handed to the archbishop of Re;mu, 75
e you‘call i we of many princes and Iordst whom tyao s £ 40
s t'he pmeTcﬂG say that this is not plausubh':, bu apn‘geﬁc pare
i ‘3 . lie, a fabricated affair that dimmishesnm e
et g 1';ear;l the angels and saints by the. g i
o relmgmu and because they told you their 11"zd o
e i Y? \re it was Saint Michael wh.o ap!Je; sy &
oy Y?iudat;st::egood You believe these things Ju
their words and de :

lieve in the faith of Jesus Christ. s
On this point, the clerks say ?hat the;e ,-:Ej':iy .
gels and saints, and that you believed t; e
ison you make to believing “just as. fi:h m:gs i
4. You said you are sure of certain A
den; you also recognized people you i st
Saint Catherine and Salinr:‘s M:arf:::tt- i et 1S superstitio
On this point, the cle

still
boast. u wore and
m . ure, YO
that it is a pﬂasumlltll':('-_'us d?sn;;mpgld and at his good pleas
5. You said that at Go

k a short tunic, 2
ed, you t00
's garb. And since God comma::i hair short, cut e abm::
I meni:hgmany points; you wear YO except what nature gave Yod'
Wi le sex n ad-
st othing to indicate the f-mﬂla thing. Although you have beewuld
e o aceived the Eucharist i thi ofuse to do so, saying that you still in
. Jowafen TREEOM w utterly FEUSE L nat if you were
vised many times to abando:(c“;p)f by God's -'-"“‘mamt:: :reat blessing for France-
ratier e S mbers of your party, e oath not to wear these clothes
these clothes among meﬂ:m ything would you mk: a:ght by God's command_- .
You also say that ot for things, you dlaim to €0 God and scorn him in his sau:d
and arms. And i 48 thl:: say that you blasphem:m canon law; you transgress il|-,.
On this point, the cle- ine law, Holy Scripture, 2 ne to idolatry; and you worship
ments; you transgress dk'::mpt)' poasts; you are pro
ith; you ma
err in the faith; you

ites of the heathen. sl
ing, according to the res and the sign of the cross in YO
yourself and your mm"%i the names Jesus, Mary
i ften p
6. You said you 0

i In
ted in the letters.
to do what is sta
ign to your foﬂﬁw“dmts ::T:‘ see killed all who would not obey
letters, as a sign wed that you "o
ou boa

i m the God of
jetermine who has the better f:j':‘ t;r:d command of
nd that blows would 4 done nothing except by reve
you, = id you ha
often sa
heaven. You

the Lord-

insufficient for recognizu:ﬁ aanr:
d rashly. And as for the comp
n, you err in the faith._ .
;nd that you knew thmgs e
all by means of the voices
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On this point, the clerks Say you are treacherous, cunning, cruel, eager to shed

blood, seditious, €ncouraging tyranny, blaspheming God’s commandments and rev-
elations.
7. You say that following your revelations, at age seventeen you left your parents’
house, against their will, thereby driving them nea rly out of their minds. And you
went to Robert de Baudricourt, who at your request gave you men’s clothing and a
sword, and an escort to take you to your king. When you met him, you told him
you had come to defeat his enemies, and you promised to put him in great domin-
ion, that he would &ain victory over his enemies, and that God had sent you to him.
You also say that you did right in these matters, obeying God through revelation.

On this point, the clerks say you behaved disrespectfully toward your parents,
breaking God’s comma nd to honor your parents; that your behavior was scandal-
ous, blasphemous toward God, and erring in the faith; and that you made a pre-
Sumptuous and rash promise. )

8. You said that of your own free will, you leaped from the tower of Beaurevoir,
preferring to die rather than be handed over to the English and survive the destruc-
tion of Compiggne. And though Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret forbade you to
leap, you could not help doing it. And despite your great sin in offending those

saints, you knew from your voices that God had forgiven you after you had con-
fessed.

On this point, the clerks sa
and even suicide; that
of sin; and that yo

9. You said tha

y that you showed cowardice bordering on despair
you also made a rash and presumptuous claim to be forgiven
u are in error concerning the doctrine of free will.
t Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret promised to take you to
heaven as long as you kept the virginity that you pledged and promised them. You
dare as certain of this as jf You were even now in the glory of the blessed. You do not
believe you committed a morta] sin, for if you were in mortal sin, the saints would
not visit you every day as they do.
On this point, the clerks
structive lie; and it contra
Christian faith.

say that your claim is rash and presumptuous, and a de-
dicts your earlier testimony. Further, you stray from the

» ot English, because they are not of that

party; and that once you learned that the voices favored your king, you disliked the
Burgundians.

divination, blasphemy against Saint Catherine and Saing Margaret, and a violation
of the commandment to love one’s neighbor. ¥
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i e et S S

. herine, and Saint
1l Saint Michael, Saint Cat :

id that to the ones you ca : < kissing the
M e :::] :2:1 made many reverences, kneelmg,.remuv;lng ?‘:::tc;':; =2 lg‘sse 4
it they walked do; S pieigine R
. d embraced them and invoked their names; and that')'ou o athes lesgvman:
:i';ee:t:ey visited you, without taking counsel f{l}'gm aﬁt:';e;t;r :0 : e
. i from God as g :
believe these voices come . r that if any evil

:_“‘:1 ‘;::t:oaund the Passion of our Lord Jesus Christ. You said furthe

ia

s Saint Michael, you could easily recognize and discern

spirit were to appear to you a ak of the sign given to

t to spe
it. You also said that of your own accor: ytf)li;s;:n”re not to sp
. R e he revelations and vi-
Yognk;:?s‘ ;oir:t,gthe clerks say that, supposing you :iil‘\;; ]:::rta :d e
that you say, you are a o
gt b:a: :hf;: tf:?tl-‘:a:nd yozohave made rash statements and taken an un
mons, erring i :

' claim to
ful oath. ou to disobey the command you
12. You said that if the Church wanft:f:nythinﬁ- and that you well know that the

d, you would not do so d that it would be im-
hl:‘ve fﬂ::u(r;;ed )i‘n your trial come from God’s mmma:: ?’e::se to yield to the judg-
e therwise. On these matters YO You say fur-
possible for you to do o living person except God alone.

on earth or to any derstanding, but by
B roduce these answers from )FOUr“own unde tholic Church”
. “?:dp even though the article of faith “One holy ca
the command of God,

been told that every Christian
i yo ny times and you have : L
pospe Exphmr:imwor:sr::d deeds to the Church militant, especially in the area
should submit all his

of revelations and such matters.t

On this point, the deﬁsc;a:nh
unity and authority of the ;
in the faith.

fail to understand the
u are schismatic, you
ha;:: are apostate, and you have stubbornly erred

ini f the University of Paris
jons and the opinion o e Un
Then after these ?“rtlfmed to Joan, she was advised in Fre‘nch by t}:
had besa 85 angiveexxl:tmost attention to her words and actions, esp:
same doctor to

i ddressed her:
the last article. He a
cially as to the

it is ti e end of your trial to think care-
o 5 ﬁiel;;L !;):‘:nlts:dt.lgi af:mthr occasions, and now here again,
s Wimdtﬂx a:ntly warned by the bishop of Bea'uvais. l?y the vice-
e bea:l by f}ther doctors sent on their behalf, in pub!_lc am::i Tw
mqumwf:::;le honor and respect we owe to God, for the faith and la
pri‘vate)

Joan,
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of Chri
“agg;,sgnfjl;:rf?}: st peace of our consciences, for the avoidance of
what punishment : Sal?'atlon of your body and soul. You have been told
and amend your ‘i: ‘:!lt et b.o th body and soul, unless you correct
Church and accept itrs : an submit yourself and your behavior to the
thought to this, Judgment. And yet thus far you have given no
Now, x
was sufﬁ:il;::n:ﬁh siiimog ]Ijldges thought the evidence against you
Wi el ha“; Se;)tf earnestly desired the salvation of your body and
of Paris, the light ofyollllr statements for examination to the University
ing its opinion, the Z anow[edge and destroyer of errors. After receiv-
of the errors s::andyl ecided to admonish you yet again by warning you
pray, and ad;nonisha $, and other sins you have committed. They beg,
gladly suffered you by the bowels of our Lord Jesus Christ, who
cruel death to redeem the human race: correct your

words a g !
nd submit to the judgment of the Church, as every Christian

is bound and obl;
5 gated t
i st © do. Do not be separated from the Lord Jesus

of eternal damnatior):tl' t}‘: part’ake of l'{is glory. Do not choose the path
mankind, transformi ith God’s enemies, who work daily to trouble
and saints, whom thmg Ihe mselves into the image of Christ, his angels
of the Fathers and i €y claim to be, as described more fully in the lives
and in Scripture.* So if anything like this appears to you,

do not believe b
e 1t, but cas
t cast out all trust and imagination in such things,

and be satisfied wi
with the statements and opinions of the University of

Paris and
They thinl?g:)l:_les(;,th:;i doctors who know God’s law and Holy Scripture.
strange vision or fzrbidr(;:; - tr;m in such apparitions, nor in any
novelty unsupported by the authori
ority of

sacred Scripture, or b
» OT by a suffici i i
these; yet you have believed suct:]:]:]gn or miracle. You have neither of
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m other than their own words. You cer-

proven themselves in some for
ome, nor

tainly should not have trusted those who you say have so ¢
should we trust you, for the Lord taught the contrary.
First, Joan, consider the following. What if, when you were in your
king’s dominion, a knight or someone else who had been born in his
domain were to have said: “I'll not obey the king anymore or submit to
his officers” Would you not say he should be condemned? What do you
say for yourself, then, who were begotten in the faith of Christ by the
sacrament of baptism, made a daughter of the Church and bride of
Christ, if you do not obey the officers of Christ—that is, the prelates of
the Church? What judgment will you assign yourself? Stop saying these
things, 1 beg you, if you love God, your creator, your beloved spouse
and your salvation, and obey the Church by submitting to its judgment.
You know that if you do not and if you persist in this error, your soul
will be damned to eternal torments, perpetual grieving, and I greatly
fear that your body will come to ruin. Do not be held back by the use]fss
shame and the human disgrace; the fear that in doing as I say, you.wﬂl
lose the great honors that you onc ed. You should first consider

e enjoy
God’s honor and your salvation, of body and soul. All these will be lost
unless you do as I say, for otherwise

you divide yourself from the
Church and the pledge you made in holy baptism, and you remove the
authority of God from the Church, which is led, ruled, and governed by
the authority of God and his Spirit. He also told the prelates of the
. “Who hears you, hears me, and who spurns you, spurns m
e i t to the Church, you in fact withdraw

refuse to be subjec
Sovee rE to be subject to it, you are not subject to God

fr it; and in refusing . .

a:(rin y;uz::nrr in the article “One holy catholic Church”—this Church
that has been sufficiently explained to you, its nature and its authority,
. - wamings.

in the preceding then, on behalf of my lords the bishop of

In view of these matters, ;
Beauvais and the vice-inquisitor, your judges, I warn, pray, and entreat
you by your devotion to the Passion of your creator, and by the love you

bear for the salvation of your soul and body, correct and amend all
these things and come back to the path of truth by obeying the Church
and by submitting tO its judgment and decision. By so doing, you will
ar soul and, I believe, redeem your body from death. But if you
el - ould you persist, know that your soul will be utterly

do not, and sh! : :
jamned; yOur body, I fear, will also be destroyed. May Jesus Christ keep
YO“ ﬁom such a fate-

el
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After Joan had been admonished in this fashion and had heard
these .entreaties, she answered as follows: “As for my words and deeds
mentioned in the trial, I refer to them and wish to stand by them.”

Asked whether she does not believe she is bound to submit her
words and deeds to the Church militant or to someone besides God,
she answered: “I will maintain what I always said during the trial.” She
added that if she were condemned and saw the fire burning and the
wood_ prepared, and the executioner ready to light the fire, and she
were in the fire itself, still she would say nothing else and would up-
hold what she had said at the trial, even unto death.

.Then we her judges asked the promoter and Joan whether either
wished to say anything else. They said they did not. We then pro-
ceeded to the conclusion of the trial, according to the text of a sched-
ult? that we the bishop held, whose tenor follows: “As legal judges in
this office, we have determined and declared ourselves competent to
whatever e‘xtent necessary, and, inasmuch as you have renounced fur-
ther questioning, we declare this trial ended. And we assign tomorrow
as the day when you will hear us render justice and when we shall de-
liver our sentence and proceed further, as law and reason dictate.”

Present as witnesses, Brother Ysambard de la Pierre and reverend

Matthieu le Bateur, priests; and Louis Orsel, clerk, of the dioceses of
Rouen, London, and Noyon.

ﬁ;?d:{; May .24. The ﬁrft serlrtence. Thursday after Pentecost, May 24,

- We the judges arrived in the morning at a public place, the cem-
etery of the abbey of Saint-Ouen of Rouen, with Joan before us on
a scaffold or 1::Iatfm’rn.50 First, we ordered a solemn sermon pl‘eaChfd
by master Guillaume Erard, a distinguished doctor of theology, as a
wholesome admonition for Joan and for the great multitude of p:fOPle
gath.ered there.>! We were assisted by the most reverend father in
Shhr;;t,lH;nry, by divine favor priest of Saint Eusebius and cardinal of
er:ndo f);th:;:air; Cg;:lc::: c&letg?rlllly called cardinal of England;?? rev-

ishops

Norwich; the abbots of Sainte-Trirr:itéoilen;@écal:nannes’aﬂggn;nati
Rouen, Jumiéges, Bec-Hellouin, Cormeilles, Sajnt-MI;;hel éu il-de-
la-mer,** Mortemer, and Préaux; the priors of Longuevﬂle-a(;li-ﬂ:pa:d ;mii
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Saint-L6 of Rouen; Masters Jean de Chatillon, Jean Beaupere, Nicolas
Midi, Maurice du Quesnay, Guillaume le Boucher, Jean le Fevre, Pierre
de Houdenc, Pierre Maurice, Jean Fouchier, doctors of theology;
Guillaume Haiton, Nicolas Couppequesne, Thomas de Courcelles,
Raoul le Sauvage, Richard de Grouchet, Pierre Minier, Jean Pigache,
bachelors of theology; Raoul Roussel, doctor of canon and civil law;
Jean Guérin, doctor of canon law; Nicolas de Venderes, Jean Pinchon,
Jean le Doux, Robert Le Barbier, licentiates of canon law; André
Marguerie, Jean Alespée, licentiates of civil law; Aubert Morel, Jean
Colombel, Jean Duchemin, licentiates of canon law; and very many
others.

The doctor began his sermon, taking his text from John 15: “A
branch cannot bear fruit of itself, unless it remain in the vine.”* Then
he told how all catholics should remain in the true vine of Holy
Mother Church, which Christ planted with his right hand, and he
showed Joan that she had cut herself away from the unity of the
Church by many errors and serious crimes and had often scandalized
Christian people. So he admonished and urged her and all the people
with wholesome doctrine.

Having concluded, the doctor spoke thus to Joan: “Here are my
reverend judges, who have repeatedly summoned you and asked you
to submit all your words and deeds to Holy Mother Church; they have
explained to you time and again that you said and did many things
that they thought were evil and erroneous.”

Joan replied: “T'll answer you. As for submitting to the Church, I al-
ready answered them on this point: let everything I've said and done
be reported to Rome, to our holy father the pope, to whom I yield af-
ter God. As for my words and deeds, I offered them on God’s behalf”
She said she blames no one for them, not her king or anyone else. If
there be any fault in them, it is hers and no one else’s.

Asked whether she would retract all her words and deeds that the
clerks have condemned, she answered: “I yield to God and our holy fa-
ther the pope.”

She was then told that this was insufficient, that it was impossible
to go find the pope at such a distance. The ordinaries were her judges,
each for his diocese, and therefore she must trust to Holy Mother
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Chur

- ilc;nccil hold to what the clerks and the other experts have said

. ide a%)out her words and deeds. And we warned h

1mes about this, e
Then, si

deuve:n(; :;ngt:l at-llua- woman would say no more, we the bishop began to

i :;ntence. .A&er we had read much of the sentence,

s o anp; th, and sa'ld she wished to hold to all that the Church

e :ll: we judges ‘wished to say and declare, and she

st fr e ]f c(l)dey our decision. And she repeatedly said that

s gy a : e.zclared that her visions and revelations should

s S nor believed, she would not uphold them, but would
Thener_:;lrzlly to Holy Mother Church and to the judges.

o peoelpre;ence of the above and before a great crowd of

b oy fe; s fe prono.unced her recantation and abjuration, ac-

4 1ot of a certa1f1 schedule in French that was read to her,

¢ pronounced and signed with her own hand, as follows:

The Abjuration of Joan (Original in French)

All who h i
v t:v:hiT::h:E? ts""::f:d in the Christian faith and by the grace of God have
Sstssbersain i ;ut and unity of our Holy Mother Church should take the
e T:my of hell from causing them to backslide and relapse
edesiol e on. ; For this reason, 1, Joan, commonly called the Maid, a
& s CII.II"HuI fe;"ﬂ:lze the fetters of error binding me, and by God's grace
Soetente B e y oo;’thff Ch"l'Ch:.to show that | have not returned under false
S paieniing thgt = eart and :WIH. I confess that | have grievously sinned: by
e afi revelations and visions from God through his angels
and carelessly; by Pra::ti -Salm Margal:et; by seducing others; by believing foolishly
solats: by tm'smm ;'_“? superstitious divination; by blaspheming God and his
modest, shameful, andgdi;:::(::a‘;.l: ::Eﬂﬁ;;mlg" bensloalileodadod
T ; , against natural decen i
=, 3m::;1 I[Jl;i :, :l:;n ;;g'ainst all virtut.z of the female sex; by pmumcﬁt:::s::yb::
Moo 4l ke e b'""g the shedding of human blood; by claiming that I have
things were good s command of God, his angels and saints, and that these
aging sedition and com;$ : by scorning God and his sacraments; and by encour-
fess that 1 have been schi mg_ idolatry, adoring and invoking evil spirits. | also con-
Ao Schismatic and have in many ways strayed from the faith
» detest, renounce, and utterly abandon these crimes and errors wuth a
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good heart and without pretense, by the grace of our Savior, and return to the path
of truth through the holy doctrine and good counsel of you and the doctors and
masters you sent me. In all these things, | submit to the correction, disposition,
amendment, and entire judgment of our Holy Mother Church and of your good
justice. And | vow, swear, and promise to blessed Peter, prince of apostles, to our
holy father the pope in Rome, his vicar, and to his successors, and to you, my lords,
the reverend bishop of Beauvais and the religious Brother Jean Le Maistre, vice-
inquisitor, my judges, that never by any encouragement or other means will I return
to these errors, from which it has pleased our Lord to deliver and save me. But |
shall ever abide in unity with our Holy Mother Church and in obedience to our holy
father the pope of Rome. And this I say, affirm, and swear by almighty God and his
Holy Gospels. In proof of this, | have signed this schedule with my mark.

Thus signed: “Joan +.”

Here follows the abjuration translated into Latin.

The Abjuration of Joan (in Latin)

Summary. The same text appears in Latin.

Sentence after the Abjuration
ccepted her recantation and abjura-

At length, after we the judges had a -
tion as stated above, we the bishop pronounced our final sentence:
In the name of the Lord, amen. All pastors of the Church‘wh? long to
shepherd the Lord’s flock faithfully must strive with all their might, care-
fully and vigilantly, to resist the deceitful sower of errors, whose wiles

i ten to infect the flock of Christ. The need is even
g 2 es, as the apostle foretold, when many false

ix:)apt;remm &iﬁ:g;:ﬁgm?m of perdition @d error i:{to the. world.*
And if Holy Mother Church does not repel their false devices mty
sound doctrine and canonical sanctions, they could seduce the faithful
of %Lﬁ;gfcﬁfﬁm the Maid, have been summoned in a
il of‘faith 'for many wicked crimes andl have been brought before us,
Pierre, by divine mercy bishop of Beauvais, and Broth‘er Jean Le.
Maistre, vice-inquisitor for this city and diocese appointed to this task
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b
Fra:;c;l:f:;;:d doctor Master Jean Graverent, inquisitor for heresy in
St st andre?[son, we have seen and carefully examined the course
o asserti:n fhat haPPened,_ especially your responses, confes-
S i $; we have considered the noteworthy opinion of the
Sl i gy :'md canon law at the University of Paris, and also
R theol;vermy, besides the host of other prelates, doctors, and
o elsewﬁy and canon and civil law dwelling in this city of
et matere who discussed your assertions, words, and deeds;
Vit ]::'e Couns.el and conferred with votaries of the Chris-
P i Ve considered and examined all else that deserved
ot gt ' His matter and that could or should instruct us or any
€ous judge.

tl'la:(;i?;:lgd Olr-lI:'et');es fixed on Christ and the honor of the true faith,
i detefmi r:l l“li:ay come forth from the Lord’s countenance,” we
leoding & revelat? that you have most grievously sinned by falsely pre-
carelessly and rash?niand ho!Y‘wsmns, by seducing others, by believing
Blfotulin e oux 1-]:" Y Practicing superstitious divination, by blas-
canonical sanctions 1!‘;’ saints, by transgressing law, Holy Scripture, and
siliti. 5 apostasr ¥ scornmg, G(?d in his sacraments, by fomenting
the catholic faith ianlng, by falling into schism, and by erring against
pented warhing & many ways. But since with God’s help, after re-

gs kindly and patiently delivered, you at last returned to

contrite heart and unfeig

in a publj, :

withpall h:rzz;i:nco_r;nd stce your own lips abjured them aloud, along

by this document we rlr;g to a form consistent with ecclesiastical laws:

that enchained you ¢lease you from the bonds of excommunication

heart and unfeignec’ll;;?t::ded that you return to the Church with a true

you now and in the futur; a;;d that you observe what we impose upon

God and Holy Church, as .;t et because you have rashly sinned against

& saliitary peciamice of » ated: we «.‘:ondemn you in a final sentence to

row and the water of :}Elrp etual imprisonment, with the bread of sor-
ction, that you may weep there for your faults

and henceforth do nothj
ing that will 2
our grace and right to moderate this :lealf:rf: weep; always reserving

The afternoon of the same day. The afternoon of th
[

Brother Jean Le Maistre, vice-inquisitor, same day, we,

assisted by lords and masters
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Nicolas Midi, Nicolas Loiselleur, Thomas de Courcelles, and Brother
Ysambard de la Pierre, with certain others, arrived at the prison where
Joan was staying, and explained to her that God had shown her great
favor that day, and that the clergy had been very merciful to her in re-
ceiving her back into the grace and pardon of Holy Mother Church.
She should therefore humbly submit to and obey the sentence and
decision of the judges and clergy, and utterly abandon her errors and
old stories and never return to them. We told her that if she did return
to them, the Church would not receive her again, but would abandon
her altogether.® She was also told to set aside men’s attire and take
women’s, as the Church had commanded.

Joan said she would gladly take women’s attire and would obey and
yield to the clergy in all things. Then, being offered women’s clothes,
she put them on at once and took off the men’s garments. She also
wished and allowed her hair, which had been cut short and round, to

be shaved off.
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lawful and appro
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Trial for Relapse

YD,

i X K ]

% ; ;

L-, :::’ wclithdljawa her recantation and resumes wearing

handi y othing. Sentenced as a relapsed heretic, she is
over to the secular authorities for punishment.

Monday,
Trinity,
Also pr.

‘T:{h jt?;ldThe foll_owmg Monday, May 28, the day after Holy
b “ger gles :rrwed at Joan’s prison to observe her condition.
i ; (():r s and masters Nicolas de Venderes, Guillaume
g e ’ourc?lles, Brother Ysambard de la Pierre, Jacques
And,b icolas Bertin, Julien Flosquet, and John Grey.
i an;cadusegoan was wearing men’s clothes,
done:j s ou:u {‘et, with other men’s garments that she had aban-
st or er) for wcl)men’s dress, we asked her when and why
put on men’s clothing.

Joan said she had j
doned women’s. Just recently resumed men’s clothes and aban-

namely a short tunic,

Ask
ed why she had done so, and who had induced her to do so, she

said she had taken them of
her own will, with .
that she preferred these clothes to women’s.Wl st e

Then she was told that she had

: romised i
B s p and sworn never again to

il:::;lj Z}il; n;ver understood that she was taking such an oath.
Mt gain why she had resumed men’s clothing, she said that be-
g men, sl.le thought that wearing men’s clothes was more
priate than wearing women’s. She added that she had

taken them because they had not kept their promise that she might go
to Mass to receive the body of Christ and might be released from her
chains.

Asked whether she had taken an oath earlier not to take men’s
clothes, she said she would rather die than be bound in fetters; but if
they allow her to go to Mass and release her from the chains, and if she
is given an agreeable prison <and a woman as a companion>, she
will be good and do as the Church wishes.

Since we the judges heard that she still clung to the illusion of her
pretended revelations, those she had formerly renounced, we asked
her whether she had heard the voices of Saint Catherine and Saint
Margaret since last Thursday. She said yes.

Asked what they told her, she said that through Saint Catherine and
Saint Margaret, God sent her word of the great pity of her betrayal
when she abjured and recanted to save her life, and that she had
damned her soul to save her life. She said that before Thursday, her
voices had told her what to do that day, and she did it. They told her to
answer the preacher boldly when she was on the platform before the
people. And Joan said that he was a false preacher and accused her of
many things she had never done. If she were to say that God had not
sent her, she would be damned, for God truly had sent her. Since
Thursday, her voices had told her that she had done great harm by say-
ing that what she had done was wrong. Whatever she said and re-
canted on Thursday, she did only from fear of the flames.

Asked whether she believes that her voices are Saint Catherine and
Saint Margaret, she said yes, and they are from God.

Asked to tell the truth about the crown, she answered: “Everything
I told you in the trial was the truth, as best I knew it.”

Then she was told that when she abjured on the scaffold, before
judges and people, she admitted that she had falsely boasted that the
voices were Saint Catherine and Saint Margaret.

She said that she did not intend to do so. She did not deny or in-
tend to deny her visions, that is, that they were Saint Catherine and
Saint Margaret; she did everything out of fear of the flames, and her
entire recantation was untrue. She prefers to do her penance once and
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for all by dyi

She nevzr ;};i,nra?er than. endure the torment of prison any longer.

tion, and she um?l:r T i oo God or the faith, despite her recanta-

that moment [that 15 ood nOth‘flg in the formula of abjuration. <At

cant anything unle . the abjuration]> She did not intend to re-

Wetiieids: otk e $s it pleased God. If the judges wish, she will take
es; for the rest, she will do nothing else. ’

Hearing th .
ese things, we |
law and reason. . eft her, to proceed further according to

Tuesday, May 29,
the chﬂlpelj”of m:hai;f}bc-t day, Tuesday after Trinity Sunday, May 29, in
sembled doctors and o residence in Rouen, we the judges as-
reverend fathers in C]:XPerts in theology and canon and civil law:
Saint-Ouen of Rouen anzt’ the abbots of Holy Trinity of Fécamp,
of Longueviﬂe-Giffaré ]n Mortem?r; reverend masters Pierre, prior
Erard, Guillaume Je B’ eax}: de Chatillon, Erard Emengart, Guillaume
Guesdon, Pierre Mauo'uc er, Jean de Nibat, Jean le Févre, Jacques
Pasquier de Vaux, do tnce’ e theology; Jean Guérin and
Venderes, archdea::onc 0;5 of canon law; André Marguerie, Nicolas de
Couppequesne, Gujuas of Rouen Cathedral; Guillaume Haiton, Nicolas
de Courcelles, bacheloum-e de Baudribosc, Richard de Grouchet, Thomas
i 1.rs mltheoIOgY; Jean Pinchon, Jean Alesp:ée Denis
Desjardins, canonsgoefr,RNlmlas Caval, Nicolas Loiselleur, Guiilaume
licentiates of canon a dol.lefl Cathedral, some masters and others
Guillaume de la Cha nb o -law and of medicine; Jean Tiphaine
Jean le Doux, Jean Col;:) ri; Guillaume de Livet, Geoffroi du Crota):
of canon or civil Jaw, om ¢l, Aubert Morel, Pierre Carrel, licentiates,
Lavenu, Brother Ysan;b rc;n asters or licentiates of medicine; Martin
Désert, canon of Roye ard de la Pierre, and reverend Guillaume du
Ry n Cathe::lral.
lic session here on ﬂ.: o t.he bishop explained that after the ]
E:e vigil O:d Pentecost, following their adw?ceai:repl;l:(_‘:
; warned and instructed il
ursx:t; }r;;f Paris believed she ;I;dthtia;ieg?:zedpomt;
path of truth. And ;gince :ll; eto ‘::L;J:jdon. these errors and return toatliie
and since the promoter likewise had?leéﬁzgagrfu;!:rtsps?k ﬁl;':hﬂ:
Yy or bring
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against her, we had ended the trial and assigned the following Thurs-
day for the parties to hear us render justice.

Then we reminded them what had happened on that Thursday,
how after a solemn sermon and admonitions, Joan had recanted and
abjured her errors and signed the abjuration with her own hand; and
how, after dinner, we the vice-inquisitor and our assistants had kindly
urged Joan to persist in her good intention and to beware of relapse;
then how, in obedience to the commands of the Church, she had given
up men’s clothing and accepted women’s; but that led by the devil, she
had stated once again before many witnesses that her voices and spirits

had come and told her many things; and how casting off women’s

dress, Joan again took men’s clothing. Having heard this, we visited

and examined her.

Then we ordered Joan’s la
those she made to us yesterday,
from those present. They pronounced as follows:

Summary. All twenty-seven masters considered her a relapsed heretic, though
many recommended further reading and explanation of the abjuration to her and
preaching. Most recommended that in handing her over to the secular authority,
there should be a plea to treat her with leniency (this a standard formula); how-
ever, Denis Gastinel and Pasquier de Vaux advised against such a plea.

ons of each one, we thanked them and con-
s a relapsed heretic,

st confessions and assertions to be read,
and we asked for counsel and advice

After hearing the opini
cluded that the trial should continue against Joan a

according to law and reason.
e last day of the trial. The next day, Wednesday,

hear justice pronounced by the ap-
fully from our letter and from the of-

Wednesday, May 30. Th
May 30, we summoned Joan to

pointed officer, as appears more
ficer’s report. Here follows the letter:

ummons of Pierre Cauchon for Joan's Appearance
all public priests appointed as rectors of

churches in the city and diocese of Rouen, notes that Joan has relapsed, and there-
mands each one to summon Joan to appear the next day to hear the sen-
ondemnation. Dated Tuesday, May 29, 1431.

The S
Summary. Pierre Cauchor, writing to

fore com
tence of ¢
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Here fol
lows the executor’s letter executing the summons:

The Execution of the Summons

Summary. Jeq

e n M 3 P

Graverent, inﬁrmﬁflm} Writing to Pierre Cauchon, Jean Le Maistre, and Jean
em that the summons has been executed. Dated Wednesday,

May 3
y 30. 1431, at seven o’clock in the morning.

Around nine o’ :
arrived at the Oe]; I\C/Ijoct In the morning that same day, we the judges
assisted by reverend af: = Of'Rouen near the Church of Saint-Sauveur,
Noyon; masters ] thers in Christ the bishops of Thérouanne and
Venderes, Raou] R;il; (ile Chf?‘tmon, André Marguerie, Nicolas de
Alespée, Pierre de Ho SZ’ Denis .GaStinel, Guillaume le Boucher, Jean
ville, Pierre Maurice udenc, Guillaume Haiton, the prior of Longue-
Then Joan was led b;fand man].; other lords, masters, and clergymen.
ple assembled there ore us, within view of a great multitude of peo-
wholesome admonit}oand she was placed upon a scaffold. For her
Midi, a distinguisheq dn and the people’s edification, master Nicolas
taking his text from thOctor of theology, preached a solemn sermon,
chapter twelye: *If ¢ Apostle, the first letter to the Corinthians,

one member suffer, the others suffer with it

After the ser
: mon, we agai ;
salvation and to think otg' h‘;r“’:;:;ed Joan to be mindful of her soul’s

Fll'lally, we the bj
all these matters, c;:i?fd:gdthth: ;;C:'inquﬁiton taking into account
at this woman, moved by a stubborn

rashness, had ney
. er trul
that the devili .y renounced her errors and wi ;
and deceitfy] sh malice of her stubbornness wicked crimes, but
sham of contrition was revealed in her false
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each point of the matter and after mature deliberation and counsel
with many experts, we proceeded to our final sentence, as follows:

In the name of the Lord, amen. Whenever the deadly poison of heresy
infects a member of the Church, who is then transformed into a mem-
ber of Satan, utmost care must be taken to keep the contagion of the
disease from spreading to other parts of the mystical body of Christ.
The holy fathers also set down that hardened heretics should be re-
moved from the company of the just, rather than allowing such poison-
ous vipers to be nourished in the bosom of Holy Mother Church,
gravely endangering the other faithful.
Therefore we, Pierre, by divine mercy bishop of Beauvais, and
brother Jean Le Maistre, vicar of the distinguished doctor Master Jean
both competent judges in this office,
have declared a just verdict that you Joan, commonly called the Maid,
have fallen into various errors and crimes such as schism, idolatry, invo-
cation of demons, and many others. And yet since the Church never
closes her bosom to any who return, we supposed that you had re-
turned from these errors and crimes with a pure mind and sincere faith
when on a certain day you renounced them and publicly swore,
and promised never to return to those errors or to any heresy, no mat-
ter who persuaded you, but instead to remain continually in the unity
of the catholic Church and in fellowship with the Roman pontiff, as
stated in greater detail in a schedule signed by your own hand. But after
you recanted your errors, the author of schism and heresy attacked and
seduced your heart, and—alas!—you fell into the same errors and
crimes, like a dog returning to its vomit,? as appears sufficiently and
plainly from your willing confessions and statements. And we con-
cluded that it was plainly evident that earlier you denied your false sto-
ries merely in word, and with a false heart, rather than a sincere and

Graverent, inquisitor of heresy,

vowed,

honest soul.

We therefore declare that you have fallen again under sentence of ex-
communication and into your original errors, and we declare you a re-
lapsed heretic. Seated in judgment, we do make known and pronounce
in writing by this our sentence that you are a corrupt member, and that
to prevent you from infecting other members, you should be driven
from the unity of the Church, divided from its body, and handed over
to the secular power; we cast you out, separate, and deliver you, praying
the secular power to be lenient in its judgment toward you with respect
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to the death and mutilation of the body.> And if true signs of repen-
tance should appear in You, you may receive the sacrament of penance.

This sentence was pronounced jn part before the abjuration.

In the name of the Lord, amen, All pastors . . . righteous judge.
Keeping our eyes fixed on Christ and the honor of the true faith,
that our judgment may come forth from the Lord’s countenance,’ we
say and determine that you have falsely imagined revelations and divine
apparitions, that you are a Pernicious temptress, presumptuous, credu-
lous, rash, Superstitious, a false prophetess, a blasphemer against God
and his saints, scornful of God in his sacraments, a transgressor of di-
vine law, sacred doctrine, and ecclesiastical decrees; that you are sedi-
tious, cruel, apostate, schismatic, straying in many ways from our faith;
and that in these Ways you have rashly sinned against God and his
Church. Moreover, we ourselves and certain learned and expert doctors
and masters who Were concerned for the salvation of your soul have of-
ten warned You on our behalf, duly and sufficiently, to correct and
amend yourself in these Mmatters and to submit to the guidance, judg-
ment, and correction of Holy Mother Church. Yet you would not do so,
nor did you concern yourself with it, but in your hard-heartedness and

T€ You an excommunicate and heretic, as one
obstinate and confirmed in these sins, faults, and errors. And now that
your errors have been condemned in a public sermon, we declare that,
as a limb of Satan cut off from the Church, infected with the leprosy of
l?eresy, you are to be abandoned to secular justice, lest you infect other
limbs of Christ, and we do so abandon You; and we pray the secular

Power to be moderate in jts judgment upon you, short of death and
mutilation. And if you show

the sacrament of penance.

L, Guillaume Colles, also called Boisguillaume, priest and notary
named above, do attest that collation was duly mad,

: e with the original
register; and therefore I have signed this present €opy containing 158

folios with my manual sign. Here I sign with my own hand, followed
by the two other notaries below,
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isguillaume. ] ks
im;glm(}uillaume Manchon, priest of the diocese of Rouen, notary
n »

blic by apostolic and imperial authority, do atte_st that I “(ria;sn p:ei:;l;
i : her notaries at the collation of the tr1_a1 proceeding; ;eed-
e Cft = duly made with the original register of t‘he p;(; 5
Fhat COHat“;n Wa'S'th thye other notaries in this trial I have signe de o
mg:}: ;};rez\:ﬁ:;d and have affixed my manual sign, as requested.
wil

. i ublic
i??nlz?c(;?as Taquel, priest of the diocese of Rouen, notary p

i y f Rouen
i i the archbishop’s court o
imperial authority and by . oo
S“'gm rt:u);nl::lid to a part of this trial, do attest t!mt Y:;th E}:; : ‘:im e
?nriessul witnessed and heard the collation of t‘hls tri (;zl oot
oariginal register of the trial and thaththe crl)llaziozlhvi:acsopy ﬁf e
i n
ith the other notaries, I have sig : iy
E};eiif?:iihwrl:; m:n hand, and affixed my manual sign, as requ
elo

N. Taquel’
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1431

1450
1452
1455

1456

B R G oL Sl

;\day—fune/]ufy. Joan at Beaulieu

Sune/]ufy—September/November. Joan at Beaurevoir
eptember or November. Joan at Arras

December 23. Arrival at Rouen

January 9. Beginning of trial
f;bruary 21. Joan’s first appearance in court
M:::: ; 2 geg_inn?ng of sessions in prison
v F eginning of ordinary trial
Ma; 24j : ::11;1,';31 ;’:.hargv;:s against Joan, and warning
o :, . )thuranon and sentence to life in prison
eyt i dra“.'al of her abjuration
May & ec:sllon to deliver Joan to the secular arm
y 30. Burning of Joan of Arc at the stake as a heretic

Royal inquest into the original trial
Re : S
newed investigation by Guillaume d’Estouteville
A e
uthorization of formal retrial by Pope Calixtus I1I

July 7. Nullification of original trial verdict
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Major Participants in the Trial

Ly S

For further information on the judges and assessors,
and on other persons mentioned in the trial, see
Régine Pernoud and Marie-Véronique Clin, Joan of
Arc: Her Story, trans. and rev. Jeremy duQuesnay Ad-
ams (New York, 1998), 167-217; Pierre Tisset, Procés
de condamnation de Jeanne d’Arc (Paris, 1960-1971),
2:383-425; and W. P. Barrett, The Trial of Jeanne d’Arc
(New York, 1932), 389-473, which is a translation of
the dramatis personae in Pierre Champion, Proces de
condamnation de Jeanne d’Arc (Paris, 1920-1921).

RoYALTY AND NOBILITY

Charles VII. King of France from 1422 to 1461. Crowned at Reims
Cathedral on July 17, 1429, with Joan in attendance.
f England from the age of nine months. He reigned

and from 1470 to 1471. All the trial documents
s ministers.

Henry VI. King 0

from 1422 to 1461 _
written in his name were the work of hi

Lord of Beaurevoir and count of Ligny (d.

f the duke of Burgundy. One of Luxem-
Joan and delivered her to him.

Jean de Luxembourg-
1440), loyal supporter ©
bourg’s vassals captured

Good. Duke of Burgundy from 1419 to 1467. Came to
the assassination in 1419 of his father, John the Fear-

power following :
alliance with England in 1420 that lasted until

less, and made an
1435.




UDG
JUDGEs, AssEssOrs, AND OTHER TRIAL OFFICIALS

Guillaume Colles. One of
: ; two notaries (wi -
appointed by Cauchon for the trial, (with Guillaume Manchon)

" s e of twi i i i
l (i n.otarles (Wlth Guillaume C }

Jean d’Esti
3 accusai?::t Pfomoter, or prosecutor, who introduced the articles
s 3821118t Joan on March 27-28. Later vilified by the
and Manchon for his hatred and mistreatment of Joan.

Jean de la Fontai
S :;zt:m;. Courfselor and examiner who interrogated Joan
s. According to testimony at the nullification trial, he

ﬂed Rouen af[er C 4
ounsel 2
after March 28. ing Joan. He does not appear in the record

Jean Gravere it xS LR
nt. Dominican inquisitor of France, who did not attend

the trial (he was en
aged i !
Le Maistre as his deif:y'. at another trial) but instead appointed Jean

}ea'ﬂ Le Mai * @ _ . .
Nominally :lfltlr;. Dommlcafl vice-inquisitor” for Jean Graverent.
Mate) judge coequal in authority to Bishop Cauchon, Le
re in fact played only a small role, -

Jean Massieu. 2
ssieu. “Usher,” or executor of writs, at the trial

Piern i
o gu: d(i':;c:mq. Bishop of Beauvais and supporter of the Anglo-
e e egime. Be.cause Joan was captured in his diocese, he had
over her trial. The trial was moved to Rouen beca:LSC his

territory had been lost t
o the F 3
the Latin trial record drawn upfendl. He was responsible for having

Tho
i :l;tde LC;t.lm:'Hes. Theologian who translated the trial from
Tavesy = tin in the months following the trial. Courcelles al
€ articles of accusation against Joan on March 27-28 o
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herat, ed., Procés de con-

1.1 quote from the excerpts in Jules Quic
1841-

damnation et de réhabilitation de Jeanne d’Arc dite la Pucelle (Paris,

1849), 4:503.

2. A Parisian Journal, 1405-1449, trans. Janet Shirley
265.

3. Germain Lefévre-
Morosini (Paris, 1901), 3:348-35
cle between July 8 and July 14, 1431.

4. Nicolas Lami, who was present on
council and informed Nider about Joan. S

Beaupére, one of the primary interrogators,
before Joan’s execution. On Joan’s judges and assessors at the council, see

Heinz Thomas, “Jeanne la Pucelle, das Basler Konzil und die Kleinen’ der
Reformatio Sigismundi,” Francia 11 (1983): 327-331.

5. Reginald Hyatte, ed., Laughter for the Devil: The Trials of Gilles de Rais,
Companion-in-Arms of Joan of Arc, 1440 (Cranbury, N.J., 1984).

6. On other trials, see Pierre Tisset, Procés de condamnation de Jeanne d’Arc
(Paris, 1960-1971), 3:61 n. I; and Karen Sullivan, The Interrogation of Joan of
Arc (Minneapolis, 1999), xiii. On the manuscripts, see Tisset, Proces, 1:xix—

(Oxford, 1968), 264—

Pontalis and Léon Dorez, eds., Chronique d’Antonio
7. The editor dates this section of the chroni-

March 3, left immediately for the
ee Quicherat, Proces, 4:504. Jean
departed on May 28, two days

XXX.
7. Pierre Duparc, “La délivrance d’Orlé

in Jeanne d’Arc: Une époque, un rayonnement (Paris,
8. On attitudes in Paris, see A Parisian Journal.
9. See here Marina Belozerskaya, Rethinking the Renaissance: Burgundian

Arts across Europe (Cambridge, 2002). On Cauchon’s support for the house of

Burgundy, see Francois Neveux, L'évéque Pierre Cauchon (Paris, 1987), 43—45.
10. Neveux, L'évéque Pierre Cauchon, 74=77-

ans et la mission de Jeanne d’Arc,”
1982), 153-158.




